# **UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

# **FORM 10-Q**

(Mark One)

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from \_ to

Commission File Number: 001-40344

# Akoya Biosciences, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

47-5586242

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

01752 (Zip Code)

100 Campus Drive, 6th Floor

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

Marlborough, Massachusetts (Address of principal executive offices)

(855) 896-8401

Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value \$0.00001 per share	AKYA	Nasdaq Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 🗵 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (3232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes  $\boxtimes$  No  $\square$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  $\Box$ Non-accelerated filer  $\boxtimes$ 

Accelerated filer  $\Box$ 

Emerging growth company  $\boxtimes$ 

Smaller reporting company 🗵

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Number of shares of the registrant's common shares outstanding at October 31, 2021: 37,207,823

# AKOYA BIOSCIENCES, INC.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1. Financial Statements	
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2021 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2020	2
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021	3
and 2020	
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)	4
( <u>Unaudited) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020</u>	
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020	6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	7
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	24
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	40
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	40
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	40
Item 1A. Risk Factors	40
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	40
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	41
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	41
Item 5. Other Information	41
Item 6. Exhibits	42
Signatures	43

#### Akoya Biosciences, Inc.

### SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on management's beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to management. All statements contained in this report other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding our ability to develop, commercialize and achieve market acceptance of our current and planned products and services, our research and development efforts, and other matters regarding our business strategies, use of capital, results of operations and financial position, and plans and objectives for future operations. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the words "may," "will," "could," "would," "should," "expect," "intend," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "project," "potential," "continue," "ongoing" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words. These statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks, uncertainties and other factors are described under "Risk Factors," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and elsewhere in this report and in other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") from time to time. We caution you that forward-looking statements are based on a combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our projections of the future, about which we cannot be certain. As a result, the forward-looking statements may not prove to be accurate. The forward-looking statements in this report represent our views as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law.

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references to "we," "us," "our" and similar references refer to Akoya Biosciences, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary.

# AKOYA BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Accounts receivable, net         9,605         6,47           Inventories, net         6,003         4,226           Prepaid expenses and other current assets         145,660         28,600           Property and equipment, net         6,492         5,22           Restricted Cash - long term         301         150           Demo inventory, net         2,194         1,49           Intel assets         8,125         2,264           Other assets         338         467           Corrent liabilities,         8,105,666         7,000           Current liabilities         8,105,666         7,000           Current portion of capital lease obligations         2,29         1,90           Deferred revenue         4,354         3,44           Current portion of long-term debt	(in about the second seco				
Assets         (unaudited)           Carrent assets         (unaudited)           Carrent assets         3,063           Propid experivations         3,063           Carrent assets         3,011           Propid experiment other current assets         3,01           Property and equipment, net         6,492           Restricted cash - long term         3,01           Bron inventory, net         2,384           Intangible assets, net         3,31           Condvill         18,262           Carrent assets         3,363           Total assets         3,33           Carrent assets         3,365           Carrent prioritics, Redemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)         5           Carrent prioritics, Redemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)         5           Carrent prioritics, Redemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)         5           Carrent prioritics         5,356         7,010           Carrent prioritics         3,543         3,344           Total carrent liabilities         2,79         19           Deferred revenue         4,354         3,445           Carrent protion and ebt discount         1,136		Sept	ember 30, 2021	Dec	ember 31, 2020
Assets Current asset Cash and cash equivalents (9,003) Cash Cash Cash Cash Cash Cash Cash Cash Cash					
Cash and cash equivalents         \$         120,150         \$         17,00           Accounts receivable, net         6,093         4,26         9,812         95           Frepaid expenses and other current assets         9,812         95         75         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         74         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75         75 </td <td>Assets</td> <td></td> <td>(</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Assets		(		
Accounts receivable, net       9,665       6,47         Inventories, net       6,093       4,26         Prepaid expenses and other current assets       9,812       95         Exercised cash-long term       6,492       5,22         Bestricited cash-long term       301       130         Demogration of part of the set of t	Current assets				
Accounts receivable, net       9,665       6,47         Inventories, net       6,093       4,26         Prepaid expenses and other current assets       9,812       95         Exercised cash-long term       6,492       5,22         Bestricited cash-long term       301       130         Demogration of part of the set of t	Cash and cash equivalents	\$	120,150	\$	17,006
Propaid expenses and other current assets         9.812         95           Data current assets         145,660         28,660           Property and equipment, net         6,492         5,25           Bern inventory, net         2,984         1,43           Intangible assets, net         21,374         22,71           GoodVill         18,262         18,262           Other assets         338         446           Total assets         \$ 195,611         \$ 77,66           Accounts payable         \$ 4,071         \$ 5,507           Accounts payable         \$ 4,071         \$ 5,507           Current Inabilities         8,596         7,001           Current proint of capital less obligations         279         19           Deferred revenue         4,334         3,44           Current proint of capital less obligations         279         19           Deferred revenue         -1,030         11,156         1,100           Current Inabilities         77,300         17,16         1,100           Construction of capital less obligations, net of current portion         6,824         6,989           Total current inability         Note 4, net of current portion         6,824         6,989 <td< td=""><td>Accounts receivable, net</td><td></td><td>9,605</td><td></td><td>6,470</td></td<>	Accounts receivable, net		9,605		6,470
Total current assets         145.660         28.69           Property and equipment, net         6.492         5.52           Restricted cash – long term         2,984         1,49           Intangible assets, net         2,1374         22,1374           Condwill         18,262         18,262           Condwill         5         105,115           Condwill         5         105,111           Condwillies,         64,021         5,527           Current liabilities,         64,071         5           Current liabilities,         64,071         5           Accounts payable         5         4,071         5           Current portion of long-term debt         1,136         1,003           Current portion of long-term debt         1,136         1,003           Current portion of long-term debt         1,136         1,003           Conting payable         1,136         1,003           Current liabilities         1,236         1,003           Current liabilities         1,236         1,003           Current liabilities         1,36         1,003           Current liabilities         1,324         17           Careid paremet down and debt discount         2,22 </td <td>Inventories, net</td> <td></td> <td>6,093</td> <td></td> <td>4,263</td>	Inventories, net		6,093		4,263
Property and equipment. net6,4925,52Berricit cach sets, net2,9841,49Intangible assets, net21,37422,71Goodvill18,26218,262Other assets33846Total assets5195,411\$Carrent liabilities\$40,015Accounts payable\$4,071\$Current portion of capital lease obligations279919Deferred revenue4,3543,443,44Current portion of long-term debt-1,1031,103Total current liabilities1,361,0001,7361,000Total current portion of long-term debt-1,0001,1361,000Current portion of long-term debt-1,0001,1361,000Constrain portion of long-term debt-4,0001,1361,000Constrain portion of debt discount3,2,3603,3400,000Long-term debt, net of current portion6,6246,9807,000Constrain expression of apital lease obligations2,0202,0202,020Constrained convertible Preferred Stock, S0,0000 1 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 3,715,733-4,000Series C Redeenable Convertible Preferred Stock, S0,0000 1 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; ad 2,7200-1,150Series C Redeenable Convertible Preferred Stock, S0,0000 1 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; ad 2,7200-1,250 <td>Prepaid expenses and other current assets</td> <td></td> <td>9,812</td> <td></td> <td>957</td>	Prepaid expenses and other current assets		9,812		957
Restricted cash - long term Demo inventory, net Intangible assets, net Coodwill 21,374 22,77 Total assets 21,374 22,77 Condwill 21,374 21,374 22,77 Condwill 21,374 21,374 22,77 Condwill 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21,374 21	Total current assets		145,660	_	28,696
Demo inventory, net2,9841,49Intangible assets, net21,37422,71Coodvill33846Total assets\$195,411\$77,66Current parable\$195,411\$77,66Accounts payable\$4,971\$507Accounts payable\$4,9543,84Current parable\$4,9543,84Current parable4,3543,84Current parable4,3543,84Current parable	Property and equipment, net		6,492		5,528
Intangible assers, net       21,374       22,71         Condwill       18,262       18,262         Other assets       338       446         Total assets       195,411       \$77,66         Current liabilities       8,966       7,00         Accounds payable       \$4,071       \$5,07         Accounds payable       \$4,071       \$5,07         Accounds payable       \$4,071       \$5,07         Accounds payable       \$4,354       3,44         Current portion of capital lease obligations       279       19         Deferred revenue       4,354       3,44         Current portion of long-term debt        1,03         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       1,136       1,00         Long-term debt, net of current portion       3,2,363       33,44         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       6,224       6,98         Total allability	Restricted cash – long term		301		502
$ \begin{array}{c ccccc} Good. \label{eq:constraint} \\ Good. \label{eq:constraint} \\ \begin{tabular}{llots} \\ \end{tabular} \\ \end{tabuar} \\ \end{tabular} \\ \end{tabular} \\ \end{tabuar} \\ \end{tabular}$	Demo inventory, net		2,984		1,494
Other assets       338       46         Total assets       \$ 195,411       \$ 77,66         Liabilities, Redeenable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)           Current payable       \$ 4,071       \$ 5,07         Accounts payable       8,596       7,01         Current portion of Capital lease obligations       229       3,19         Deferred revenue       4,334       3,44         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       1,1356       1,000         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       1,1356       1,000         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       1,1354       1,010         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       1,134       1,17         Capital lease obligations, net of current portion       6,824       6,930         Contingent consideration liability       0,821       6,930       5,93,57         Redeenable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$00,0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,100 0,201 and December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,23,03,30,107 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively       —       11,50         Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outst	Intangible assets, net		21,374		22,714
Total assets       \$ 195,411       \$ 77,66         Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)       Current liabilities       \$ 40,71       \$ 5,07         Accounts payable       \$ 40,71       \$ 5,07       \$ 5,07         Accounts payable       \$ 279       19         Deferred revenue       \$ 4,354       3,344         Current portion of cong-term debt       \$ 1,136       1,000         Total current liabilities       \$ 1,136       1,000         Deferred revenue, net of current portion and debt discount       \$ 2,363       3,344         Deferred revenue, net of current portion       \$ 6,822       \$ 27         Warrant liabilities       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000         Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion       \$ 6,822       \$ 6,823         Total liabilities       \$ 50,0000       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000         Series S Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;       \$ 50,0000       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000         Series S Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;       \$ 50,0000       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000       \$ 50,000         Iiguidation of S0 and S1,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of S0 and S27,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$ 00 and S20,750	Goodwill		18,262		18,262
Labilities, Redeenable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)       5         Current labilities       \$       4.071       \$       5.07         Accrued expenses and other current liabilities       2.596       7.01         Current portion of capital lease obligations       2.596       7.01         Defored revenue       4.354       3.84         Current portion of long-term debt       1.136       1.108         Long-term debt, net of current portion       11.363       1.000         Defored revenue, net of current portion       1.234       1.234         Carrent liability, etc.       1.234       1.02       1.02         Capital lease obligations, net of current portion       6.824       6.989       6.982         Constignent consideration liability<(Note 4), net of current portion	Other assets		338		464
Current liabilities\$ 4.071\$ 5.07Accounts payable\$ 4.071\$ 5.07Accounts payable8,5967,01Current portion of capital lease obligations27919Defered revenue4.3543,94Current portion of long-term debt-1,03Total current liabilities17,30017,16Defered revenue, are of current portion and debt discount3,2,3633,3,48Defered revenue, are of current portion1,1361,00Contingent Consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,6246,90Contingent Consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,6246,90Total lack convertible Prefered Stock:58,01959,57Series B Redeemable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$21,500,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$21,000,127 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered S	Total assets	\$	195,411	\$	77,660
Current liabilities\$ 4.071\$ 5.07Accounts payable\$ 4.071\$ 5.07Accounts payable8,5967,01Current portion of capital lease obligations27919Defered revenue4.3543,94Current portion of long-term debt-1,03Total current liabilities17,30017,16Defered revenue, are of current portion and debt discount3,2,3633,3,48Defered revenue, are of current portion1,1361,00Contingent Consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,6246,90Contingent Consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,6246,90Total lack convertible Prefered Stock:58,01959,57Series B Redeemable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$21,500,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$21,000,127 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,100Series D Redeenable Convertible Prefered S	Liabilities. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)			_	
Accounds payable\$ 4,071\$ 5,070Accounds payable8,5667,010Current portion of capital lease obligations279190Deferred revenue4,3543,84Current portion of capital lease obligations1,7,30017,116Deferred revenue, net of current portion1,1361,000Longerern debt, net of current portion and debt discount32,236333,44Deferred revenue, net of current portion26227Warrant liability26227Warrant liability26227Redemable Convertible Preferred Stock, 50,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and 51,500,902.17 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, repertively)-Series B. Redemable Convertible Preferred Stock, 50,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, repertively)-Series D. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, 50,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at at September 30, 2021; 15,733 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-11,500Series D. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, 50,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-11,500Series D. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, 50,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-12,500Series D. Redeemable Co					
Accured expenses and other current liabilities8,5967,01Current portion of capital lease obligations27991Deferred revenue4,3343,84Current portion of long-term debt17,30017,16Dofferred revenue, net of current portion11,1361,00Long-term debt, net of current portion32,36333,48Deferred revenue, net of current portion26227Warrant liability, net26227Warrant liability-449Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,6246,98Total Liabilities58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,10Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,10Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,10Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,10Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)-30,10Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares a		\$	4.071	\$	5,074
Current portion of capital lease obligations27919Deferred revenue4,3543,44Current portion of long-term debt			8,596		7,015
Deferred revenue4,3543,344Current portion of long-term debt—1,030Total current liabilities17,30017,160Deferred revenue, ent of current portion32,36333,440Deferred tax liability, net32,36333,440Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion26227Warrant liability—49Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,980Total liabilities—49Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,01959,557Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,001059,557Series R Cedeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,000001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)—11,500Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021; at 0,57,306 shares authorized; issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,101Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—11,500Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,101Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—27,5					197
Total current liabilities17,30017,16Deferred revenue, net of current portion1,1361,000Long-term debt, net of current portion32,36333,48Deferred tax liability, net134134Capital lease obligations, net of current portion6,8246,98Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,557Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,01959,557Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)—11,500Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; above track is used and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; abave sauthorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in li	Deferred revenue		4,354		3,844
Deferred revenue, net of current portion1.1361.000Long-term debt, net of current portion and debt discount32,36333,448Deferred tax liability, net13417Capital lease obligations, net of current portion26227Warrant liability—48Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,557Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,01959,557Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, prespectively)—11,500Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$31,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, prespectively)—30,100Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, prespectively)—30,100Series A Convertible Preferred stock—69,10050 and \$12,202, respectively)—1,220Stockholders' equity (deficit):—27,5002-27,500Strike A Convertible Preferred stock—69,100 <td< td=""><td>Current portion of long-term debt</td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td>1,032</td></td<>	Current portion of long-term debt		_		1,032
Long-term debt, net of current portion and debt discount32,36333,48Deferred tax liability, net134171Capital lease obligations, net of current portion26227Warrant liability—49Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,557Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;58,01959,557Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of 50 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 20,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$13,0107 at September 30, 2021; 20,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11, 50, 300,217 shares authorized; 16,390,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,50,90001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, presettively)—30,100Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized; 16,390,217 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,220, presettively)—27,500Total redeemable convertible preferred stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—1,255Total redeemable conver	Total current liabilities		17,300		17,162
Deferred tax liability, net13417Capital lease obligations, net of current portion26227Warrant liability—49Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$20,107 at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$20,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)—27,500Total redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100Series D Redeemable Convertible preferred stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—27,500Total redeemable Convertible preferred stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—1,220Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020—-Convertible Prefered stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—	Deferred revenue, net of current portion		1,136		1,008
Deferred tax liability, net13417Capital lease obligations, net of current portion26227Warrant liability—49Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$20,107 at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$20,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)—27,500Total redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100Series D Redeemable Convertible preferred stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—27,500Total redeemable Convertible preferred stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—1,220Prefered Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020—-Convertible Prefered stock—69,100Stockholders' equity (deficit):—			32,363		33,488
Warrant liability—49Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock;58,01959,57Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in11,500liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)—11,500Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in30,100liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at \$27,500 at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,100Total redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 10,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 10,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 10,323 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020—27,500Total redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020— <td></td> <td></td> <td>134</td> <td></td> <td>170</td>			134		170
Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion6,8246,98Total liabilities58,01959,57Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,01959,57Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)—11,500Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,758,906 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021; 16,758,906 shares authorized; 16,380,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 16,758,906 shares authorized; 16,380,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 16,758,906 shares authorized; 16,380,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 16,758,906 shares authorized; 16,380,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0, 000,000 shares authorized; 0, 1,200 	Capital lease obligations, net of current portion		262		277
Total liabilitiesSec. 1Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:58,019Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)—Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)—30,10Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized; 16,390,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)Total redeemable Convertible preferred stockStockholders' equity (deficit): Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020Class A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020_			_		490
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:	Contingent consideration liability (Note 4), net of current portion		6,824		6,984
Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       11,500         Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$20,201; and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,100         Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021; and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,100         Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       27,500         Series A Convertible Prefered Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; 0,213 and December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation par value; 0,000,000 shares authorized, 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (Dreference in liquida	Total liabilities		58,019		59,579
at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively) — 11,50 Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively) — 30,100 Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively) — 27,500 Total redeemable convertible preferred stock Stockholders' equity (deficit): Series A Convertible Preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,753,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,753,00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,13,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0,503,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — 4 Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 6,2,220,020 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — 4 Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — 4 Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shar	Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:				
liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       11,500         Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,100         Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)	Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding				
Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,100         Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,100         Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       27,50         December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       27,50         Total redeemable convertible preferred stock       —       69,10         Stockholders' equity (deficit):       —       1,253         Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       1,253         Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       1,253         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outst	at September 30, 2021; 13,715,330 authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in				
at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)	liquidation of \$0 and \$11,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)		_		11,500
liquidation of \$0 and \$30,107 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       30,10         Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at       —       27,50         December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       27,50         Total redeemable Convertible preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at       —       27,50         Stockholders' equity (deficit):       —       69,10         Seiters A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       2       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —       2       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       _       _       _	Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding				
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at performer 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized; 16,390,217 shares issued and outstanding at performer 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)	at September 30, 2021; 26,732,361 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in				
at September 30, 2021; 16,758,996 shares authorized; 16,390,217 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)			_		30,107
December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$27,500 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)					
respectively)       —       27,50         Total redeemable convertible preferred stock       —       69,10         Stockholders' equity (deficit):       —       69,10         Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       1,255         Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —       -         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —       -       -         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       - </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					
Total redeemable convertible preferred stock       —       69,10         Stockholders' equity (deficit):       —       69,10         Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —       —         December 31, 2020					
Stockholders' equity (deficit):					27,500
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021; nd December 31, 2020, respectively) — 1,255 (September 30, 2021; nd September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,824 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,824 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 16,824 — (Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — (Class B Common			_		69,107
September 30, 2021; 5,013,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 (preference in liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively) — 1,259 Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — 128 A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — 2 — 2 — 2 — 2 — 2 — 2 — 2 — 2 —					
liquidation of \$0 and \$1,253 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)       —       1,25         Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020					
Preferred Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 30, 2021; 62,220,020 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 — Charles B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par va					
September 30, 2021; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —       —         Class A Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       2       —         Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 62,220,020 shares authorized; issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       2       —         Additional paid in capital       215,824       —       —         Accumulated deficit       (78,434)       (52,288         Total stockholders' equity (deficit)       137,392       (51,002			_		1,253
Class A Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 37,177,371 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 62,220,020 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,528 Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 sh					
outstanding at September 30, 2021; 62,220,020 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 2 2 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,824 - Accumulated deficit - Cr8,434 (52,282 - Cr3,7392 - Class B Common Stock, september 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, september 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued at December 31, 2020 - Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par va			—		—
December 31, 2020 2 – Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021; 16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 – Additional paid in capital 215,824 – Accumulated deficit (78,434) (52,288 Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (51,022					
Class B Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at September 30, 2021;       16.822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020         Additional paid in capital       215,824       -         Accumulated deficit       (78,434)       (52,28)         Total stockholders' equity (deficit)       137,392       (51,02)			_		
16,822,202 shares authorized; 2,563,765 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020       —         Additional paid in capital       215,824         Accumulated deficit       (78,434)         Total stockholders' equity (deficit)       137,392			2		-
Additional paid in capital         215,824         -           Accumulated deficit         (78,434)         (52,28)           Total stockholders' equity (deficit)         137,392         (51,02)					
Accumulated deficit         (78,434)         (52,28)           Total stockholders' equity (deficit)         137,392         (51,02)					1
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)         137,392         (51,02					(50.000)
					(52,280)
		-		-	(51,026)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders' equity (deficit) <b>§</b> 195,411 <b>§</b> 77,66	Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders' equity (deficit)	\$	195,411	\$	77,660

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# AKOYA BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited) (in thousands except share & per share data)

	Three months ended					Nine months ended					
	Sept	tember 30, 2021	S	eptember 30, 2020	5	September 30, 2021	S	eptember 30, 2020			
Revenue:		2021		2020		2021		2020			
Product revenue	\$	10,874	\$	7,852	\$	31,556	\$	22,967			
Service and other revenue	•	2,602	-	2,102	Ť	7,203	-	6,568			
Total revenue		13,476	-	9,954	-	38,759	-	29,535			
Cost of goods sold:		, i						,			
Cost of product revenue	\$	3,594	\$	2,752	\$	10,381	\$	8,756			
Cost of service and other revenue		1,429		1,168		4,386		2,779			
Total cost of goods sold	\$	5,023	\$	3,920	\$	14,767	\$	11,535			
Gross profit	\$	8,453	\$	6,034	\$	23,992	\$	18,000			
Operating expenses:											
Selling, general and administrative		13,725		5,712		31,970		17,166			
Research and development		3,999		2,279		10,138		7,071			
Change in fair value of contingent consideration		224		739		1,050		(167)			
Depreciation and amortization		1,244	_	971		3,352		2,792			
Total operating expenses		19,192		9,701		46,510		26,862			
Loss from operations		(10,739)		(3,667)		(22,518)		(8,862)			
Other income (expense):											
Interest expense, net		(763)		(683)		(2,271)		(1,978)			
Change in fair value of warrant liability		—		—		(2,728)					
Gain on extinguishment of debt		_		_		2,476		_			
Other expense, net		(126)		57		(244)	_	(104)			
Loss before benefit (provision) for income taxes		(11,628)		(4,293)		(25,285)		(10,944)			
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		11		9		23	_	(68)			
Net loss	\$	(11,617)	\$	(4,284)	\$	(25,262)	\$	(11,012)			
Dividends accrued on redeemable convertible preferred stock			_	(1,190)	_	(1,435)	_	(3,570)			
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock		—		(296)		(296)		(296)			
Adjusted net loss attributable to common stockholders		(11,617)	_	(5,770)	_	(26,993)	_	(14,878)			
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and			_		_		-				
diluted	\$	(0.31)	\$	(2.44)	\$	(1.15)	\$	(6.43)			
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted	32	7,162,489		2,363,063		23,407,358	_	2,314,990			

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### AKOYA BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Unaudited) (in thousands, except share data)

	Serie Redeen Conver Preferree	nable tible 1 Stock	Serie Redeen Conver Preferree Shares	nable tible I Stock	Serie Redeen Conver Preferree Shares	nable tible 1 Stock	Serie Conve Preferre Shares	rtible d Stock	Clas <u>Commo</u> Shares	n Stock	Cla: Commo Shares	n Stock	Additional Paid in Capital		cumulated Deficit	Stoc	Total kholders' ty (deficit)
Balance at	Shares	Amount	Snares	Amount	Snares	Amount	Snares	Amount	Snares	Amount	Snares	Amount	Capitai	_	Dencit	equi	ty (deficit)
December 31, 2020	13,715,330	\$ 11,500	26,732,361	\$ 30,107	16,390,217	\$ 27,500	5,013,333	\$ 1,253		¢	2,563,765	\$ 1	¢	¢	(52,280)	s	(51,026)
Exercise of stock	13,713,330	\$ 11,500	20,732,301	\$ 30,107	10,330,217	\$ 27,500	3,013,333	\$ 1,235		<b>,</b> —	2,303,703	<del>\$</del> 1	9 <u> </u>	φ	(32,200)	9	(31,020)
options	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	271,334	_	44		_		44
Accrued											27 1,00 1						
dividends	_	180	_	510	_	500	_	_	_	_	_	_	(298)		(892)		(1, 190)
Net loss			_	_		_		_	_		_		()		(8,082)		(8,082)
Stock-based															()		()
compensation	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_		254		_		254
Balance at March										-		-		_			
31, 2021	13,715,330	\$ 11,680	26,732,361	\$ 30,617	16,390,217	\$ 28,000	5,013,333	\$ 1,253	_	\$ _	2,835,099	\$ 1	\$	\$	(61,254)	\$	(60,000)
Conversion of																	
Class B shares									2,835,099	1	(2,835,099)	(1)	_		_		_
Exercise of stock																	
options	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	189,175	_	_	_	99		_		99
Accrued																	
dividends	_	37	_	105	_	103	_	_	_	_	_	_	(245)		_		(245)
Initial public																	
offering of																	
common stock	—	_	_	_	—	_	—	-	7,567,000	-	_	-	138,553		_		138,553
Conversion of																	
preferred stock																	
into common																	
stock in																	
connection with	(10 = 1 = 0.00)		(0.0 800 0.04)	(00 500)	(10.000.018)	(0.0.4.00)	(= 010 000)	(4.050)									
the IPO	(13,715,330)	(11,717)	(26,732,361)	(30,722)	(16,390,217)	(28,103)	(5,013,333)	(1,253)	26,545,579	1	—	_	71,794		—		70,542
Reclassification of warrant liability to																	
equity													3,219				3,219
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	5,219		(5,563)		(5,563)
Stock-based	_	_	—	—	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		(3,303)		(3,303)
compensation	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_		_	_	1,216		_		1,216
Balance at June				·			·				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1,210	_			1,210
30, 2021	_	s —	_	s —	_	s —	_	s —	37,136,853	\$ 2	_	s —	\$ 214,636	\$	(66,817)	s	147,821
Exercise of stock		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	01,200,000		·	-			(**)***		
options	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	40,518	_	_	_	30		_		30
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_		_		_	_	_	_		(11, 617)		(11,617)
Stock-based															,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		( ,==-)
compensation	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1,158		_		1,158
Balance at										-		-		_			
September 30, 2021		\$ _		<u>\$                                    </u>		<u>\$                                    </u>		<u>\$                                    </u>	37,177,371	\$ 2		<u>\$                                    </u>	\$ 215,824	\$	(78,434)	\$	137,392

# AKOYA BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Unaudited) (in thousands, except share data)

	Serie Redeer Conver Preferree Shares	nable rtible	Serie Redeen Conver <u>Preferrec</u> Shares	nable rtible	Serie Redeen Conver <u>Preferrec</u> Shares	nable rtible	Serie Conve <u>Preferre</u> Shares	rtible		ass A on Stock Amount	Clas <u>Commo</u> Shares	n Stock	Additio Paid i int Capita	n	Accumulated Deficit	Sto	Total ckholders <sup>:</sup> deficit
Balance at																	
December 31, 2019	13,715,330	\$ 10,780	26,732,361	\$28,067	16,390,217	\$25,500	5,013,333	\$ 1,253	_	\$ —	2,286,872	\$	1\$		\$ (31,413)	\$	(30,159
Exercise of stock														_		-	
options	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	5,495	-		2	_		2
Accrued																	
dividends	_	180	_	510	_	500		_	_	_	_	-	- (3	14)	(876)		(1,190
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	-		_´	(2,143)		(2,143
Stock-based																	
compensation	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	-	— 3	12	_		312
Balance at March														_		-	
31, 2020	13,715,330	\$ 10,960	26,732,361	\$28,577	16,390,217	\$26,000	5,013,333	\$ 1,253	_	s —	2,292,367	\$	1\$		\$ (34,432)	\$	(33,178
Exercise of stock												-					
options	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	6,526	-	_	2	_		2
Accrued																	
dividends	_	180	_	510	_	500	_	_	_	_	_	-	- (	53)	(1,137)		(1,190
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	-	_ `	_	(4,585)		(4,585
Stock-based																	
compensation	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	51	_		51
Balance at June																	
30, 2020	13,715,330	\$ 11,140	26,732,361	\$29,087	16,390,217	\$26,500	5,013,333	\$ 1,253	_	\$	2,298,893	\$	1\$		\$ (40,154)	\$	(38,900
Exercise of stock																	
options	_	_	_		_				_	_	198,406	-	_	88	_		88
Accrued																	
dividends	—	180	_	510	_	500			—	—	_	-	- (1	48)	(1,042)		(1,190
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	-		-	(4,284)		(4,284
Stock-based																	
compensation	—		_	—	_	_			—	—	—	-	_	60	—		60
Balance at																	
September																	
30, 2020	13,715,330	\$ 11,320	26,732,361	\$29,597	16,390,217	\$27,000	5,013,333	\$ 1,253		<u>\$                                    </u>	2,497,299	\$	1\$	_	\$ (45,480)	\$	(44,226
														-			

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# AKOYA BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited) (in thousands)

	Sej	Nine mon ptember 30, 2021		nded tember 30, 2020
Operating activities				
Net loss	\$	(25,262)	\$	(11,012)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization		3,418		2,792
Non-cash interest expense		319		218
Stock-based compensation expense		2,628		423
Paid-in-kind interest		—		332
Deferred income taxes		(36)		48
Change in fair value of contingent consideration		1,050		(167)
Change in fair value of warrant liability		2,728		_
Gain on extinguishment of debt		(2,476)		—
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts receivable, net		(3,135)		7,642
Prepaid expenses and other assets		(9,017)		1,058
Inventories, net		(2,272)		(276)
Accounts payable		(1,003)		(4,050)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities		2,206		(862)
Deferred revenue		638		(842)
Net cash used in operating activities		(30,214)		(4,696)
Investing activities				
Interest income reinvested in certificates of deposit		—		(117)
Purchases of property and equipment		(3,729)		(2,808)
Net cash used in investing activities		(3,729)		(2,925)
Financing activities				<u> </u>
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions		138,553		
Proceeds from stock option exercises		173		92
Principal payments on capital leases		(250)		(142)
Proceeds from Payroll Protection Program loan		_		2,476
Payments of contingent consideration		(1,590)		(2,627)
Net cash provided by (used in) in financing activities		136,886		(201)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash		102,943		(7,822)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year		17,508		12,137
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year	\$	120,451	\$	4,315
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information	_			
Cash paid for interest	\$	1,942	\$	1,375
Cash paid for income taxes	\$		\$	
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash activities	-		-	
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	438	\$	127
Accretion of dividends on Series B, C, and D Preferred Stock	\$	1,435	\$	3,570
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into common stock upon completion of initial public	φ	1,400	φ	3,370
offering	\$	71,795	\$	_
5	\$	3,219	\$	
Reclassification of warrant liability to equity	Э	5,219	Э	_

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### AKOYA BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

### (1) The company and basis of presentation

# **Description of business**

Akoya Biosciences, Inc. ("Akoya" or the "Company") is a life sciences technology company, founded on November 13, 2015 as a Delaware corporation with operations based in Marlborough, Massachusetts and Menlo Park, California, delivering spatial biology solutions focused on transforming discovery and clinical research. Spatial biology refers to an evolving technology that enables academic and biopharma scientists to detect and map the distribution of cell types and biomarkers across whole tissue samples at single cell resolution, enabling advancements in their understanding of disease progression and patient response to therapy. Through Akoya's CODEX and Phenoptics platforms, reagents, software and services, the Company offers end-to-end solutions to perform tissue analysis and spatial phenotyping across the full continuum, from discovery through translational and clinical research.

On September 28, 2018, the Company acquired the commercial Phenoptics division of PerkinElmer, Inc. ("PKI") for multiplex immunofluorescence, with the aim of providing consumers with a full suite of end-to-end solutions for high parameter tissue analysis. The Phenoptics technology offers pathology solutions for cancer immunology and immunotherapy research, including advanced multiplex immunochemistry staining kits, multispectral imaging and whole side scanning instruments, and image analysis software. The Company's combined portfolio of complementary technologies aims to fuel groundbreaking advancements in cancer immunology, immunotherapy, neurology and a wide range of other applications. The Company sells into three main regions across the world: North America, Asia-Pacific ("APAC"), and Europe-Middle East-Africa ("EMEA").

On April 8, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") approved a 1-for-2.33 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding common stock and a proportional adjustment to the existing conversion ratios for each series of the Company's convertible preferred stock, which was effected on April 9, 2021. The par value of the authorized stock was not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. Other than the par value, all issued and outstanding shares of common stock and related per share data shown in the accompanying financial statements and related notes have been retroactively revised to reflect the reverse stock split and adjustment of the Preferred Stock conversion ratios.

In April 2021, the Company completed the initial public offering of its common stock (the "IPO"). In the IPO, the Company issued and sold 7,567,000 shares of its common stock at a price to the public of \$20.00 per share, including the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase an additional 987,000 shares. The Company received \$138.6 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

Immediately prior to completing the IPO, all preferred stock converted into 26,545,579 shares of common stock, and all outstanding shares of the Company's Class B common stock converted on a 1 for 1 basis into 2,835,099 shares of the Company's Class A common stock.

On April 20, 2021, in connection with the closing of the IPO, the Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and the Company's amended and restated bylaws became effective. Refer to Note 9 for further details.

# Principles of consolidation

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative United States generally accepted accounting principles as found in the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") and Accounting Standards Updates ("ASU") of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"). The Company's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Akoya Biosciences UK Ltd. ("Akoya UK"). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

#### Unaudited interim financial information

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021, the consolidated statements of operations, and the consolidated statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are unaudited. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Company's financial position as of September 30, 2021, the results of its operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are also unaudited. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are also unaudited. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2021, any other interim periods, or any future year or period. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 included herein was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's final prospectus for its IPO dated as of April 15, 2021, and filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on April 19, 2021 (File No. 333-254760) (the "Prospectus").

# Liquidity and going concern

At September 30, 2021, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of \$120,150 and an accumulated deficit of \$78,434. The future success of the Company is dependent on its ability to successfully commercialize its products, successfully launch future products, obtain additional capital and ultimately attain profitable operations. The Company has funded its operations primarily through its preferred stock issuances, debt financing arrangements, and the IPO.

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other newly commercial life sciences companies, including, but not limited to, development and market acceptance of the Company's product candidates, development by its competitors of new technological innovations, protection of proprietary technology, and raising additional capital.

The Company has incurred losses since its inception and has used cash from operations of \$30,214 during the nine months ended September 30, 2021. However, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be adequate to satisfy our current operating plans for at least the next twelve months from the issuance of these financial statements.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of the uncertainties described above.

# (2) Summary of significant accounting policies

# Significant accounting policies

The Company's significant accounting policies are disclosed in the Prospectus and have not materially changed during the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

#### **Revenue recognition**

The Company follows ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606").

The Company generates revenue from the sale and installation of instruments, related warranty services, reagents and software (both company-owned and with third parties). Pursuant to ASC 606, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for these goods and services.

To determine the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized for arrangements determined to be within the scope of Topic 606, the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identification of the customer contract; (ii) identification of the performance obligations; (iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies each performance obligation. The Company only applies the five-step model to contracts when it is probable that the Company will collect consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer.

The Company evaluates all promised goods and services within a customer contract and determines which of those are separate performance obligations. This evaluation includes an assessment of whether the good or service is capable of being distinct and whether the good or service is separable from other promises in the contract. Promised goods or services are considered distinct when (i) the customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or together with other readily available resources and (ii) the promised good or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract.

Most of the Company's contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations (i.e., sale of an instrument and warranty services). For these contracts, the Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct (i.e. capable of being distinct and separable from other promises in the contract). The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. Excluded from the transaction price are sales tax and other similar taxes which are presented on a net basis.

#### Product Revenue

Product revenue is generated by the sale of instruments and consumable reagents predominantly through the Company's direct sales force in the United States and in geographic regions outside the United States such as APAC and EMEA. The Company does not offer product return or exchange rights (other than those relating to defective goods under warranty) or price protection allowances to its customers. When an instrument is purchased by a customer, the Company recognizes revenue when the related performance obligation is satisfied (i.e. when the control of an instrument has passed to the customer). Revenue from the sale of consumables is recognized upon shipment to the customer. The Company's perpetual software licenses generally have significant stand-alone functionality to the customer upon delivery and are considered to be functional intellectual property. The Company's perpetual software licenses are considered distinct performance obligations, and revenue allocated to the software license is typically recognized upon provision of the license/software code to the customer (i.e., when the software is available for access and download by the customer).

# Service and Other Revenue

Product sales of instruments include a service-based warranty typically for one year following the installation of the purchased instrument, with an extended warranty for an additional year sold in many cases. These are separate performance obligations as they are service-based warranties and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the service delivery period. After completion of the service period, customers have an option to renew or extend the warranty services, typically for additional one-year periods in exchange for additional consideration. The extended warranties are also service-based warranties that represent separate purchasing decisions. The Company recognizes revenue allocated to the extended warranty performance obligation on a straight-line basis over the service delivery period. Revenue from separately charged installation services is recognized upon completion of the installation process. Additionally, the Company provides laboratory services, in which revenue is recognized as services are performed. For laboratory services, we generally use the cost-to-cost approach to measure the extent of progress towards completion of the performance obligation because we believe it best depicts the transfer of assets to the customer. Under the cost-to-cost measure approach, the extent of progress towards completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to

the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation. Revenues are recorded proportionally as costs are incurred. The Company records shipping and handling billed to customers as service and other revenue and the related costs in cost of service and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

### Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by type of products, and between service and other revenue, as it best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The following table disaggregates the Company's revenue by major source:

		Three mo	nths er	ded	Nine months ended					
	Sep	September 30, 2021 September 30, 2020			Sep	tember 30, 2021	September 30, 2020			
Revenue										
Product revenue										
Instruments	\$	7,099	\$	5,397	\$	20,195	\$	16,500		
Consumables		3,430		2,125		10,283		5,703		
Standalone software products		345		330		1,078		764		
Total product revenue	\$	10,874	\$	7,852	\$	31,556	\$	22,967		
Service and other revenue	\$	2,602	\$	2,102	\$	7,203	\$	6,568		
Total revenue	\$	13,476	\$	9,954	\$	38,759	\$	29,535		

#### Significant Judgments

The Company's contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together requires significant judgment. Once the Company determines the performance obligations, the Company determines the transaction price, which includes estimating the amount of variable consideration, based on the most likely amount, to be included in the transaction price, if any. The Company then allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract based on a relative standalone selling price method. The corresponding revenue is recognized as the related performance obligations are satisfied as discussed in the revenue categories above.

Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price for each distinct performance obligation. The Company determines standalone selling price based on the price at which the performance obligation in the contract (i.e. instrument, service warranty, installation) would be sold separately. As the first-year warranty for each instrument is embedded in the instrument price, the amount allocated to the first-year warranty has been determined based on the separately identifiable price of the Company's extended warranty offering when it is sold on a renewal basis.

If the standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price taking into account available information such as market conditions and the expected costs and margin related to the performance obligations. Contracts in which only one performance obligation is identified (i.e., consumables and standalone software products) do not require allocation of the transaction price.

# Contract Assets and Liabilities

The Company did not record any contract assets at September 30, 2021 or December 31, 2020.

The Company's contract liabilities consist of upfront payments for service-based warranties on instrument sales. The Company classifies these contract liabilities in deferred revenue as current or noncurrent based on the timing of when the Company expects to service the warranty.

#### Cost to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract

Under ASC 606, the Company is required to capitalize certain costs to obtain customer contracts and costs to fulfill customer contracts. These costs are required to be amortized to expense on a systemic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates, compared to previously being expensed as incurred. As a practical expedient, the Company recognizes any incremental costs to obtain a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset is one year or less. Capitalizable costs to obtain contracts, such as commissions, and costs to fulfill customer contracts were determined to be immaterial for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020.

#### Stock-based compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation for options granted to employees, non-employees, and to members of the Board for their services on the Board based on the grant date fair value of awards issued, and the expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally four years.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The use of the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model requires management to make assumptions with respect to the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the common stock consistent with the expected life of the option, risk-free interest rates and expected dividend yields of the common stock. The expected term was determined according to the simplified method, which is the average of the vesting tranche dates and the contractual term. Due to the lack of company-specific historical and implied volatility, the Company bases its estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of a group of similar companies that are publicly traded. For these analyses, companies with comparable characteristics are selected, including enterprise value and position within the industry, and with historical price information sufficient to meet the expected life of the stock-based awards. The Company computes the historical volatility data using the daily closing prices for the selected companies' shares during the equivalent period of the calculated expected term of its stock-based awards. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining maturities similar to the expected term of the options. The Company has not paid, and does not anticipate paying, cash dividends on shares of common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. The Company has elected to account for forfeitures as they occur; any compensation cost previously recognized for an award that is forfeited because of a failure to satisfy a service or performance condition will be reversed in the period of the forfeiture. Refer to Note 10 for further details on the Company's stock-based compensation plans.

#### Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Basic and diluted net loss per common share outstanding is determined by dividing net loss, as adjusted for accretion and accrued dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock, by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share reflects the potential dilution that would occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock; however, potential common equivalent shares are excluded if their effect is anti-dilutive. In computing diluted net loss per share, the Company utilizes the treasury stock method.

The Company applies the two-class method to compute basic and diluted net loss or income per share when it has issued shares that meet the definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net (loss) or income per share for each class of common and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires net (loss) income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common and participating securities based upon their respective rights to share in the earnings as if all net (loss) income for the period had been distributed. The Company's convertible preferred stock participates in any dividends declared by the Company and are therefore considered to be participating securities. The participating securities are not required to participate in the losses of the Company, and therefore during periods of loss there is no allocation required under the two-class method.

# **Recent Accounting Standards**

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies and adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. The Company is considered to be an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended (Jobs Act). The Jobs Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. Thus, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this extended transition period and, as a result, we will not be required to adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies.

# Recently issued but not yet adopted accounting standards

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) in order to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for those leases classified as operating leases under previous generally accepted accounting principles. ASU 2016-02 requires a lessee to recognize a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term on the balance sheet. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 (including interim periods within those periods) and early adoption is permitted. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Targeted Improvements to ASC 842, which provides a new transition option in which an entity initially applies ASU 2016-02 at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulativeeffect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. In June 2020, the FASB issued an extension in the effective date for all non-public companies. This extended the effective date to annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021 (i.e. calendar year periods beginning on January 1, 2022) and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. Prior period comparative balances will not be adjusted. The Company expects to use the new transition option and will expect to be also utilizing the package of practical expedients that allows it to not reassess: (1) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease classification for any expired or existing leases, and (3) initial direct costs for any existing leases. The Company expects to use the short-term lease exception for leases with a term of twelve months or less. Additionally, the Company expects to use the practical expedient that allows it to treat each separate lease component of a contract and its associated non-lease components as a single lease component. The Company has not yet adopted ASU 2016-02 and is continuing to evaluate the impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, *Financial Instruments* — *Credit Losses (Topic 326)* — *Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments*, which has been subsequently amended by ASU No. 2018-19, ASU No. 2019-04, ASU No. 2019-05, ASU No. 2019-10, ASU No. 2019-11 and ASU No. 2020-03 ("ASU 2016-13"). The provisions of ASU 2016-13 modify the impairment model to utilize an expected loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology and require a consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2016-13 may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, *Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment*, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead of determining a hypothetical purchase price allocation to measure goodwill impairment, the Company will compare the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The update also includes a new requirement to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts. ASU 2017-04 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2017-04 may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

#### (3) Significant risks and uncertainties including business and credit concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and receivables. The Company's cash equivalents are held by large, credit worthy financial institutions. The Company invests its excess cash in certificates of deposits. The Company has established guidelines relative to credit ratings, diversification and maturities that seek to maintain safety and liquidity. Deposits in these banks may exceed the amounts of insurance provided on such deposits. To date, the Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents.

The Company controls credit risk through credit approvals, credit limits, and monitoring procedures. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral. Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's assessment of the collectability of specific customer accounts and the aging of the related invoices and represents the Company's best estimate of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The Company does not require collateral and had an allowance for doubtful accounts of \$78 and \$103 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

In 2019, and prior to outsourcing manufacturing and distribution to third party contract manufacturers during 2020, PKI served as our distributor for Europe and parts of APAC, and thus represented a significant concentration of revenue.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021, one customer accounted for 11% of revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, one customer accounted for 10% of revenue. For the three months ended September 30, 2020, no customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, PKI accounted for 11% of revenue. One customer accounted for 14% of accounts receivable at September 30, 2021. No customers accounted for greater than 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2020.

#### (4) Fair value of financial instruments

The Company measures the following financial liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during any of the periods presented.

The following tables set forth the Company's financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value categorized using the lowest level of input applicable to each financial instrument as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Liabilities:	Septe	lance at ember 30, 2021	in Mar Id A	ed Prices Active kets for entical ssets evel 1)	Öt Obse Inj	ificant ther rvable puts vel 2)	Uno	gnificant bservable Inputs Level 3)
	¢	6.824	\$		\$		¢	C 024
Contingent consideration – Long term portion	Э	0,824	Э		Э		Э	6,824
	\$	6,824	\$		\$	—	\$	6,824
				ed Prices Active	Sign	ificant		

Liabilities:	Dece	lance at mber 31, 2020	Marke Iden Ass (Lev	tical ets	Obse In	ther rrvable puts vel 2)	Uno	gnificant bservable Inputs Level 3)
Warrant liability	\$	490	\$	_	\$	_	\$	490
Contingent consideration – Long term portion	\$	6,984	\$		\$		\$	6,984
	\$	7,474	\$	_	\$		\$	7,474



The Company's recurring fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs relate to the Company's contingent consideration liability and warrant liability. In those circumstances where an acquisition involves a contingent consideration arrangement, the Company recognizes a liability equal to the fair value of the contingent payments the Company expects to make as of the acquisition date. The Company re-measures this liability each reporting period and records changes in the fair value through changes in fair value of Contingent consideration on the Company's consolidated statements of operations. Increases or decreases in the fair value of the contingent consideration liability can result from changes in discount rates, periods, timing and amount of projected revenue.

Prior to completion of the IPO in April 2021, the Company had an outstanding warrant to purchase shares of its Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock. Since the underlying Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock was classified outside of permanent equity, the preferred stock warrant was classified as other long-term liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet. The preferred stock warrant liability was recorded at fair value utilizing the Black-Scholes model. The Black Scholes option pricing model is based on the estimated market value of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining contractual term of the warrant, risk-free interest rates, expected dividends, and expected volatility of the price of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant to its estimated fair value at each reporting date, with any related increase or decrease in the fair value recorded as an increase or decrease to other income (expense) in the statements of operations. In connection with the IPO, the preferred stock warrant was converted to a warrant to purchase shares of the Company's common stock, pursuant to its preexisting terms. As such, the Company assessed the classification of the common stock warrant and determined it met the criteria to be classified within stockholders' equity. Accordingly, the fair value of the warrant liability was reclassified to stockholders' equity.

Changes in the fair value of the Company's long-term portion of the contingent consideration liability during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

\$ 8,139
(171)
(1, 590)
(80)
\$ 6,298
\$ 6,984
(1, 210)
1,050
\$ 6,824
\$ \$ \$

The difference between the amount paid in 2020 and the amount included in accrued expenses at December 31, 2019 is \$87 and is included in the change in fair value of contingent consideration in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 consolidated statement of operations.

The recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of the Company's contingent consideration liability include the following significant unobservable inputs:

Contingent Consideration Liability	air Value as of tember 30, 2021	Valuation Technique	Unobservable Inputs
Revenue-based Payments	\$ 6,824	Discounted Cash	Revenue discount
		Flow Analysis under	factor, discount rate
		the Income	
		Approach	

Changes in the fair value of the Company's warrant liability during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2019	\$	192
Change in fair value of warrant liability		
Balance as of September 30, 2020	\$	192
	_	
Balance as of December 31, 2020	\$	490
Change in fair value of warrant liability		2,728
Reclassification of warrant liability to stockholders' equity		(3,218)
Balance as of September 30, 2021	\$	_

# (5) Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment consists of the following:

	Estimated Useful Life (Years)	September 30, 2021		Dec	ember 31, 2020
Furniture and fixtures	7	\$	380	\$	358
Computers, laptop and peripherals	5		3,498		2,367
Laboratory equipment	5		4,811		3,806
Leasehold improvements	Shorter of the				
	lease life or 7		1,344		1,261
Total property and equipment			10,033		7,792
Less: Accumulated depreciation			(3,541)		(2,264)
Property and equipment, net		\$	6,492	\$	5,528

Total depreciation expense relating to property and equipment charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was \$462 and \$1,277, respectively. Total depreciation expense relating to property and equipment charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was \$356 and \$1,031, respectively.

Demo inventory consists of the following:

	Estimated Life (Years)	September 30, 2021		Dec	ember 31, 2020
Demo inventory – gross	3	\$	3,911	\$	2,010
Less: Accumulated depreciation			(927)		(516)
Demo inventory, net		\$	2,984	\$	1,494

Total depreciation expense relating to demo equipment charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was \$261 and \$513, respectively. Total depreciation expense relating to demo equipment charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was \$94 and \$199, respectively.

# (6) Intangible assets and goodwill

Intangible assets as of September 30, 2021 are summarized as follows:

	AccumulatedCostAmortization			Net	Useful Life (in years)
Customer relationships	\$ 11,800	\$	(2,364) \$	9,436	15
Developed technology	8,300		(2,079)	6,221	12
Licenses	63		(24)	39	15
Trade names and trademarks	6,300		(1,578)	4,722	12
Capitalized software	947		(66)	881	5
Non-compete agreements	300		(225)	75	4
Total intangible assets	\$ 27,710	\$	(6,336) \$	21,374	

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 are summarized as follows:

	Accumulated Cost Amortization			Net	Useful Life (in years)
Customer relationships	\$ 11,800	\$ (1	1,774) \$	10,026	15
Developed technology	8,300	(1	L,560)	6,740	12
Licenses	63		(20)	43	15
Trade names and trademarks	6,300	(1	l,184)	5,116	12
Capitalized software	659		—	659	5
Non-compete agreements	300		(170)	130	4
Total intangible assets	\$ 27,422	\$ (4	4,708) \$	22,714	

Total amortization expense charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was \$521 and \$1,562, respectively. Total amortization expense charge to cost of sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was \$0 and \$66, respectively. Total amortization expense charged to operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was \$521 and \$1,562, respectively.

In November 2015, the Company entered into a license agreement with Stanford University ("Stanford"), pursuant to which Stanford granted the Company an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under certain patent rights to make, use, import and commercialize products for diagnostic, industrial and research and development purposes. In accordance with the agreement, the Company capitalized non-refundable royalties paid to Stanford totaling \$63, subject to straight-line amortization over a period of 15 years, or the term of the related agreement.

As of September 30, 2021, the amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets in future periods is expected to be as follows:

2021 remaining	\$ 525
2022	2,121
2023	2,184
2024 2025	2,184
2025	2,184
Thereafter	12,176
Total	\$ 21,374

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the goodwill balance is \$18,262.

### (7) Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

	Sept	September 30, 2021		ember 31, 2020
Payroll and compensation	\$	4,157	\$	2,225
Current portion of contingent consideration		1,210		1,590
Inventory purchases		604		478
Other accrued expenses		2,625		2,722
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$	8,596	\$	7,015

### (8) Debt and capital lease obligations

# Term Loan Agreements

In September 2019, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Innovatus Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP ("Innovatus"), under which Innovatus agreed to make a term loan to the Company in an aggregate principal amount of \$25,000 (the "Innovatus Term Loan"). Amounts borrowed under the Innovatus Term Loan have an initial maturity date of September 1, 2024 and accrue interest at a floating annual rate equal to the sum of (a) the greater of 5.25% or the prime rate and (b) 3.75%. For each of the first 24 months, the Company will be paying 7.25% as cash interest and deferring 1.75% of interest until October 1, 2022. Principal payments (including the amortization of the accrued interest) of \$1,079 per month commence on October 1, 2022. A final payment fee of \$750 is due upon the earlier to occur of the maturity date or prepayment of such borrowings. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recorded \$31 and \$93, respectively, related to the amortization of the final payment fee associated with the Innovatus Term Loan.

In October 2020, the Company entered into a new debt financing arrangement with Midcap Financial Trust (the "Midcap Trust Term Loan"), for a \$37,500 credit facility, consisting of a senior, secured term loan to refinance all existing indebtedness with Innovatus. The Company received \$32,500 in aggregate proceeds as a result of the debt financing. In connection with its entry into the Midcap Trust Term Loan, in October 2020, the Company paid off the full balance of the Innovatus Term Loan of \$26,882, including the principal, accrued interest, prepayment fee, and final fee.

The term of the Midcap Trust Term Loan is interest only for 36 months followed by 24 months of straight-line amortization. Interest on the outstanding balance of the Midcap Trust Term Loan shall be payable monthly in arrears at an annual rate of one-month LIBOR plus 6.35%, subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.50%. The interest rate was 7.85% at September 30, 2021. At the time of final payment under the Midcap Trust Term Loan, the Company is required to pay Midcap Financial Trust a final payment fee of 5.00% of the amount borrowed under the Midcap Trust Term Loan. If the Midcap Trust Term Loan is prepaid prior to the end of the term, the Company shall pay to Midcap Financial Trust a fee as compensation for the costs of being prepared to make funds available in an amount determined by multiplying the amount being prepaid by (i) three percent (3.00%) in the first year, two percent, (2.00%) in the second year and one percent (1.00%) in the third year and thereafter. A final payment fee of \$1,625 is due upon the earlier to occur of the maturity date or prepayment of such borrowings. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recorded \$82 and \$243, respectively, related to the amortization of the final payment fee associated with the Midcap Trust Term Loan.

#### Paycheck Protection Program Loan ("PPP")

In April 2020, the Company received a \$2,476 small business loan under the PPP, part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act"). In December 2020, we applied for forgiveness of the full loan amount. Any such forgiveness of indebtedness, in accordance with the CARES Act, does not give rise to federal taxable income. If not forgiven, the note bears interest at a rate of 1.00% and payments are scheduled to begin the latter of March 2021, or upon response by the Small Business Association (the "SBA") regarding our forgiveness application.

The PPP, established as part of the CARES Act, provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. Such loan provides for customary events of default, including, among others, those relating to failure to make payment when due and breaches of representations. The Company may prepay the principal of the loan at any time without incurring any prepayment charges. The loan is subject to all the terms and conditions applicable under the PPP and is subject to review by the SBA for compliance with program requirements, including the Company's certification that the current economic uncertainty made the PPP loan request necessary to support ongoing operations.

In June 2020, the Payroll Protection Program Flexibility Act ("PPPFA") was signed into law adjusting certain key terms of loans issued under the PPP. In accordance with the PPPFA, the initial deferral period may be extended from six to up to ten months and the loan maturity may be extended from two to five years. The PPPFA also provided for certain other changes, including the extent to which the loan may be forgiven.

The loan's principal and accrued interest are forgivable to the extent that the proceeds are used for eligible purposes, subject to certain limitations, and that the Company maintains its payroll levels over a twenty-four-week period following the loan date. The Company believes that it has used the proceeds for eligible purposes consistent with the provisions of the PPPFA.

As the legal form of the PPP loan is a debt obligation, the Company initially accounted for it as debt under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 470, *Debt* and recorded a debt obligation of \$2,476. The Company received forgiveness on the PPP Loan in June 2021 and therefore has recorded the \$2,476 forgiveness of the loan within Other income (expense) on the consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ending September 30, 2021. The forgiveness qualifies as a gain upon debt extinguishment and the related liability was removed from the consolidated balance sheet in the second quarter of 2021.

Debt consists of the following:

	Sep	tember 30, 2021	Dec	ember 31, 2020
Midcap Trust Term Loan	\$	32,500	\$	32,500
PPP Loan		_		2,476
Total debt		32,500		34,976
Unamortized debt discount		(439)		(515)
Accretion of final fee		302		59
Total debt, net		32,363		34,520
Less amount included as short-term				(1,032)
Long-term debt, net	\$	32,363	\$	33,488

As of September 30, 2021, future principal payments due under the Midcap Trust Term Loan, excluding the \$1,625 final payment fee, are as follows:

2021	\$ 
2022	_
2023	2,708
2024	16,250
2025	13,542
Total minimum principal payments	\$ 32,500

As a condition precedent to the Innovatus Term Loan, the Company also sold shares of Series D Preferred Stock at the same terms provided to the other investors for an aggregate amount of \$2,000 to the Lender as part of the Series D Financing. Additionally, as a condition precedent to the Innovatus Term Loan, the Company agreed to receive at least \$25,000 in net proceeds from the Series D Financing by December 2019, which the Company completed on September 27, 2019, as discussed below. In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company also issued the lender a warrant to purchase 368,779 additional shares of Series D Preferred Stock, which converted to a warrant to

purchase common stock upon the IPO as discussed in Note 4, at a purchase price of \$1.53 per share. The expiration date of the warrant is September 27, 2029. The holder may at any time and from time to time exercise this warrant, in whole or in part, and on any exercise of the warrant, the holder may elect to receive shares equal to the value of the warrant or portion. The initial warrant value of \$192 was recorded as a debt discount and is being amortized over the term of the Innovatus Term Loan. See Note 4 for valuation of warrant.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company entered into two leases for staining equipment, computer equipment and furniture which are classified as capital lease obligations in the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2021. In 2020, the Company entered into a lease for staining equipment which is classified as a capital lease in the consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2021, and December 31, 2020, the current portion of the lease obligations totaled \$279 and \$197, respectively, and the long-term portion totaled \$262 and \$277, respectively.

# (9) Stockholder's equity (deficit)

In February 2021, the Board approved and in April 2021, the Company's stockholders approved the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2015 Plan (as defined below) to be increased from 4,947,214 shares to 6,020,175 shares (an increase by 1,072,961 shares).

The Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes it to issue 500,000,000 shares of common stock, \$0.00001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.00001 per share. Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote. The holders of common stock are also entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the Board, subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, a total of 37,177,371 and 2,563,765 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding, respectively, and 6,955,947 and 4,932,952 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, respectively.

#### (10) Stock compensation plans

#### 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

On March 24, 2021, the Board and on April 8, 2021, its stockholders approved and adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Award Plan (the "2021 Plan"). The 2021 Plan became effective immediately prior to the closing of the IPO. Under the 2021 Plan, the Company may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and other stock or cash-based awards to individuals who are then employees, officers, directors or consultants of the Company. A total of 1,727,953 shares of common stock were approved to be initially reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan. The number of shares under the 2015 Plan subject to outstanding awards as of the effective date of the 2021 Plan that are subsequently canceled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company were added to the shares reserved under the 2021 Plan. In addition, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Plan will be automatically increased on the first day of each calendar year during the ten-year term of the 2021 Plan, beginning with January 1, 2022 and ending with January 1, 2030, by an amount equal to 5% of the outstanding number of shares of the Company's common stock on December 31st of the preceding calendar year or such lesser amount as determined by the Board.

#### 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company's 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") was established for granting stock incentive awards to directors, officers, employees and consultants to the Company. The 2015 Plan provided for the grant of incentive and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units as determined by the Board. Under the 2015 Plan, stock options were generally granted with exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair value of the common stock as determined by the Board, expired no later than 10 years from the date of grant, and vested over various periods not exceeding four years. While no shares are available for future issuance under the 2015 Plan, it continues to govern outstanding equity awards granted thereunder.

# **Stock Options**

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company granted options to employees with an aggregate fair value of \$17,196 and \$413, respectively, which are being recorded as compensation expense over the requisite service period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The valuation model for stock compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation including the expected term (weighted-average period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding), volatility of the Company's common stock and an assumed-risk-free interest rate.

*Expected Volatility.* The Company uses an average historical stock price volatility of comparable public companies within a group of similar entities that were deemed to be representative of future stock price trends as the Company does not have sufficient trading history for its common stock. The Company will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding volatility of its own stock price options becomes available.

*Expected Term.* The Company derived the expected term using the "simplified" method (the expected term is determined as the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options), as the Company had limited historical information to develop expectations about future exercise patterns and post vesting employment termination behavior.

*Risk-Free Interest Rate.* The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining terms similar to the expected term on the options.

*Dividend Yield*. The Company has never paid any dividends and does not plan to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, and, therefore, used an expected dividend yield of zero in the valuation model.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company granted options to purchase 2,228,460 shares of common stock at a weighted average fair value of \$7.72 per share and a weighted average exercise price of \$15.52 per share. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company granted options to purchase 900,113 shares of common stock at a weighted average fair value of \$0.46 per share and a weighted average exercise price of \$0.59 per share. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the fair values were estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model using the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Three months ended September 30, 2021	Three months ended September 30, 2020	Nine months ended September 30, 2021	Nine months ended September 30, 2020
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate	0.9 %	0.3 %	1.0 %	1.0 %
Expected dividend yield	0 %	0 %	0 %	0 %
Expected volatility	51.1 %	49.7 %	50.5 %	46.0 %
Expected term	6.0 years	5.5 years	6.0 years	5.2 years

Stock-based compensation related to the Company's stock-based awards was recorded as an expense and allocated as follows:

		Three months ended September 30,				Nine months September						
	2	2021		2021		2021		2020 2021		2021	21 2020	
Cost of goods sold	\$	36	\$	2	\$	83	\$	6				
Selling, general and administrative		960		45		2,233		312				
Research and development		162		13		312		105				
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 3	1,158	\$	60	\$	2,628	\$	423				

As of September 30, 2021, and 2020, there was \$14,430 and \$402, respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options. The Company expects to recognize that cost over a remaining weighted-average period of 3.4 and 2.6 years as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

# (11) Employee stock purchase plan

On March 24, 2021, the Board and on April 8, 2021, its stockholders approved and adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"). The ESPP became effective in connection with the closing of the Company's IPO. The ESPP permits participants to purchase common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their eligible compensation. A total of 172,795 shares of common stock were approved to be initially reserved for issuance under the ESPP. In addition, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP will be automatically increased on the first day of each calendar year during the first tenyears of the term of the ESPP, beginning with January 1, 2022 and ending with January 1, 2030, by an amount equal to 0.5% of the outstanding number of shares of the Company's common stock on December 31st of the preceding calendar year or such lesser amount as determined by the Board. No shares have been issued under the ESPP at September 30, 2021.

#### (12) Income taxes

During the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded a tax benefit (provision) of \$11 and \$9, respectively, and \$23 and (\$68) for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The tax benefit and provision consist primarily of foreign income taxes and state taxes in the United States. The provision differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to the full valuation allowance recorded against the U.S. deferred tax assets, including the current year to date losses. The Company maintains a valuation allowance against its U.S. deferred tax assets as the Company believes it is more likely than not the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") was signed into law on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act included several provisions that provide economic relief for individuals and businesses. The CARES Act, among other things, included tax provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, the deferral of employer's social security payments, and modifications to net operating loss carryback provisions. On December 27, 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 (the "CAA"), which includes the Economic Aid to Hard-Hit Small Businesses, Nonprofits, and Venues Act and the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, was signed into law and provided further COVID-19 economic relief with an expansion of the employee retention credit. In March 2021, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") released Notice 2021-20, which retroactively eliminated the restriction that prevented employers who received a PPP loan from qualifying for the Employee Retention Credit ("ERC"), which is a refundable tax credit against certain employment taxes. Upon determination that the employer has complied with all of the conditions required to receive the credit, a receivable is recognized and the credit reduces salaries and wages. In connection with the CARES Act, the Company adopted a policy to recognize the employee retention credit when earned. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we determined that we qualify for the employee retention credit as it relates to wages paid during the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, as well as wages paid during the first, second, and third fiscal quarters of 2021. As a result, we recorded a net benefit of \$4,321 related to the employee retention credit as a reduction to payroll expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and recorded a gross receivable of \$5,093 within Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of September 30, 2021.

# (13) Commitments and contingencies

# **Operating Leases**

In July 2019, the Company entered into a seven-year office lease agreement for office and laboratory space in Marlborough, MA. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a security deposit totaling \$450 in the form of a letter of credit. On June 18, 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to reduce its letter of credit to \$300. The Company's letter of credit is recorded as restricted cash in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In July 2019, the Company signed a seven-year lease agreement for office and laboratory space in Menlo Park, CA. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a security deposit totaling \$181, which is recorded as a component

of long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet; the lease commencement date was May 2020. In July of 2021, the Company signed a 70-month amendment to its lease in Menlo Park, CA to expand its existing space. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a security deposit totaling \$92, in addition to the existing security deposit, which is recorded as a component of long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet; the lease commencement date was August 2021.

In August of 2021, the Company signed a 30-month lease with MTP Equity Partners, LLC for office space in Marlborough, MA. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a security deposit totaling \$43, which is recorded as a component of long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet; The lease commencement date is August 2021.

Contractual cash payments for the Company's operating leases as of September 30, 2021 by fiscal year are as follows:

2021 remaining	\$ 608
2022	2,470
2023	2,561
2024	2,175
2025	2,204
Thereafter	2,788
Total	\$ 12,806

Total rent expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was \$533 and \$1,160, respectively. Total rent expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was \$285 and \$857, respectively.

#### License Agreements

In November 2015, the Company entered into a license agreement with The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University ("Stanford"), pursuant to which Stanford granted the Company an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under certain patent rights to make, use, import and commercialize products for diagnostic, industrial and research and development purposes. The Company agreed to pay annual license maintenance fees ranging from \$20 to \$50 for the royalty-bearing license to certain patents. The Company also issued a total of 91,559 shares of Class B common stock pursuant to the agreement in 2015, which converted to Class A common stock on April 8, 2021. Such shares were recorded at fair value at the date of issuance. The Company is required to pay royalties on net sales of products that are covered by patent rights under the agreement at a rate of 2.25%, subject to reductions and offsets in certain circumstances.

In September 2018, in connection with the acquisition of the QPS division of PKI, the Company entered into a License Agreement with PKI, pursuant to which PKI granted the Company an exclusive, nontransferable, sublicensable license under certain patent rights to make, use, import and commercialize QPS products and services. The Company is required to pay royalties on net sales of products and services that are covered by patent rights under the agreement at a rate ranging from 1.0% to 7.0%. The Company recorded approximately \$1,210 and \$1,590 of accrued royalties in connection with this agreement as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, payable in the first quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively.

#### Research Agreements

In 2019 the Company entered into a research arrangement with an unrelated third party. Under this arrangement, we are obligated to pay such third party \$500, \$415, and \$120 in 2021, 2022, and 2023, respectively.

### (14) Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Potentially issuable shares of common stock include shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding employee stock option awards. Awards granted with performance conditions are excluded from the shares used to compute diluted earnings per share until the performance conditions associated with the awards are met.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share:

	Three mon Septeml				Nine mont Septeml			
	 2021	2020		_	2021	_	2020	
Net loss	\$ (11,617)	\$	(4,284)	\$	(25,262)	\$	(11,012)	
Dividends accrued on redeemable convertible preferred stock			(1,190)		(1,435)		(3,570)	
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock			(296)		(296)		(296)	
Adjusted net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (11,617)	\$	(5,770)	\$	(26,993)	\$	(14,878)	
Weighted average common shares used in net loss per share		_		_		_		
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted	37,162,489		2,363,063		23,407,358		2,314,990	
Basic and diluted net loss per common share outstanding	\$ (0.31)	\$	(2.44)	\$	(1.15)	\$	(6.43)	

The Company's potential dilutive securities, which include stock options, convertible preferred stock, and warrant, have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders whenever the effect of including them would be to reduce the net loss per share. In periods where there is a net loss, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same. The following potential common shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:

	Septem	ber 30,
	2021	2020
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (as converted to common stock)		2,151,641
Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (as converted to common stock)	—	5,886,405
Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (as converted to common stock)	—	11,473,110
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (as converted to common stock)	—	7,034,423
Outstanding stock options	5,450,055	3,640,153
Performance-based stock options	—	21,459
Warrant to purchase Series D convertible preferred stock (as converted to common stock)	—	158,274
Warrant to purchase common stock	158,274	
Total	5,608,329	30,365,465

# (15) Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company's chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company has one business activity and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations. Accordingly, the Company has a single reportable segment structure. The Company's principal operations and decision-making functions are located in the United States.

The following table provides the Company's revenues by geographical market based on the location where the services were provided or to which product was shipped:

	Three months ended September 30,					Nine months end September 30,			
	_	2021	2020			2021		2020	
North America	\$	7,394	\$	4,802	\$	19,004	\$	13,100	
APAC		2,828		2,398		9,527		8,290	
EMEA		3,254		2,754		10,228		8,145	
Total Revenue	\$	13,476	\$	9,954	\$	38,759	\$	29,535	
		Three mo Septer		Nine months ende September 30,					
		2021		2020	-	2021	-	2020	
North America		55 9	%	48	%	49 %		44 %	
APAC		21 9	%	24	%	25 %		28 %	
EMEA		24 9	%	28	%	26 %		28 %	
Total Revenue		100 9	%	100	%	100 %		100 %	

North America includes the United States and related territories, as well as Canada. APAC also includes Australia. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, we had one country outside of the United States with 14% and 16% of total revenue, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, we had countries outside of the United States with 16% and 12% of total revenue, and 11%, 10% and 10% of total revenue, respectively.

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, substantially all of the Company's long-lived assets are located in the United States.

#### (16) Related party transactions

Argonaut Manufacturing Services Inc. ("AMS") is a portfolio company of Telegraph Hill Partners, which holds greater than 5% of our total outstanding shares. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company incurred costs of goods sold of approximately \$868 and \$2,594, respectively, related to sales of consumables manufactured by AMS. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company incurred costs of goods sold of approximately \$386 and \$826, respectively, related to sales of consumables manufactured by AMS. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, \$2,199 and \$1,300, respectively, is included in inventory related to consumables manufactured by AMS. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had \$506 and \$569 in accounts payable, respectively, due to AMS.

# Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 included in the Prospectus. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those in the Prospectus, as referred to in the section titled "Risk Factors" under Part II, Item 1A below. Please also see the section titled "Special note regarding forward looking statements."

### Overview

We are an innovative life sciences technology company delivering spatial biology solutions focused on transforming discovery and clinical research. Our mission is to deliver a revolutionary new class of spatially derived biomarkers that empower life sciences researchers to better understand disease and clinicians to improve patient outcomes. Spatial biology refers to a rapidly evolving technology that enables academic and biopharma scientists to detect and map the

distribution of cell types and biomarkers across whole tissue samples at single cell resolution, enabling advancements in their understanding of disease progression and patient response to therapy. Through our CODEX and Phenoptics platforms, reagents, software and services, we offer end-to -end solutions to perform tissue analysis and spatial phenotyping across the full continuum, from discovery through translational and clinical research.

Our spatial biology solutions measure cells and proteins by providing biomarker data in its spatial context while preserving tissue integrity. Biomarkers are objective measures that capture what is happening in a cell or tissue at a given moment. Current genomic and proteomic methods, such as next-generation sequencing (NGS), single-cell analysis, flow cytometry and mass spectrometry, are providing meaningful data but require the destruction of the tissue sample for analysis. While valuable and broadly adopted, these approaches allow scientists to analyze the biomarkers and cells that comprise the tissue but do not provide the fundamental information about tissue structure, cellular interactions and the localized measurements of key biomarkers. Furthermore, current non-destructive tissue analysis and histological methods provide some limited spatial information, but only measure a minimal number of biomarkers at a time and require expert pathologist interpretation. Our platforms address these limitations by providing end-to-end solutions that enable researchers to quantitatively interrogate a large number of biomarkers and cell types across a tissue section at single cell resolution. The result is a detailed and computable map of the tissue sample that thoroughly captures the underlying tissue dynamics and interactions between key cell types and biomarkers, a process now referred to as spatial phenotyping. We believe that we are the only business with the breadth of platform capabilities that enable researchers to do a deep exploratory and discovery study, and then further advance and scale their study through translational and clinical phases, thereby helping to provide a broad scope of understanding of human biology, disease progression and response to therapy.

We offer two distinct platforms for spatial phenotyping, each designed to serve the unique needs of our customers in the discovery, translational and clinical markets. The first, CODEX, is an ultra-high parameter and cost-effective platform ideally suited for discovery research with the ability to identify more than 40 biomarkers in a tissue sample. The second, Phenoptics, is a high-throughput platform with the automation and robustness needed for translational and clinical applications. Both offer seamless and integrated workflow solutions for our customers, including important benefits such as flexible sample types, automated sample processing, scalability, comprehensive data analysis and software solutions and dedicated field and applications support. With these platforms, our customers are performing spatial phenotyping to further advance their understanding of diseases such as cancer, neurological and autoimmune disorders, and many other therapeutic areas.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, revenue from North America accounted for approximately 55% and 48% of our revenue, respectively, and 49% and 44% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As of September 30, 2021, we employed a commercial team of 146 employees, including many with significant industry and technical experience. This total includes field instrument service personnel who are classified in cost of goods sold in our consolidated statements of operations. We follow a direct sales model in North America and EMEA, while selling through third party distributors and dealers in APAC.

We focus a substantial portion of our resources on research and development, as well as on business development and sales and marketing. Our research and development efforts are geared towards developing new instruments and assay capabilities, as well as new reagent kits, to meet both our customers' needs and to address new markets. We intend to continue making significant investments in this area for the foreseeable future. We also intend to continue to make investments in building our sales team and marketing our products and services to potential customers.

We generally outsource all of our production manufacturing. Design work, prototyping and pilot manufacturing are performed in-house before outsourcing to third party contract manufacturers. Our outsourced production strategy is intended to drive cost leverage and scale, and avoid the high capital outlays and fixed costs related to constructing and operating a manufacturing facility. The contract manufacturers of our systems and reagent kits are located in the United States and Asia. Certain of our suppliers of components and materials are single source suppliers. We manufacture and assemble certain instrument components in-house.

As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have financed our operations primarily from the issuance and sale of convertible preferred stock and borrowings under our long-term debt agreement, and our IPO. We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception in 2015. Our net losses were \$11.6 million and \$4.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and \$25.3 million and \$11.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:

- attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including the expansion of our commercial capabilities and organizations;
- market and sell new and existing solutions and services;
- invest in processes and infrastructure to scale our business;
- support research and development to introduce new solutions;
- expand, protect and defend our intellectual property; and
- acquire complementary businesses or technologies to support the growth of our business.

#### Key factors affecting our results of operations and future performance

There are a number of factors that have impacted, and we believe will continue to impact, our business, results of operations and growth. Our ability to successfully address these factors is subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described under the heading *"Risk Factors."* 

### Expansion of our installed base

We are focused on increasing sales of our CODEX and Phenoptics platforms to new and existing customers. Our financial performance has historically been driven by, and will continue to be impacted by, the volume of instrument sales. Additionally, instrument sales are a leading indicator of future recurring revenue from consumables and services. Our operating results and growth prospects will be dependent in part on our ability to increase our instrument installed base as we further penetrate existing markets and expand into, or offer new features and solutions that appeal to, new markets.

We believe our market is still evolving and relatively underpenetrated. As spatial biology is further validated through rapid acceleration of peer-reviewed publications and growing adoption by the life sciences research market, we believe we have an opportunity to significantly increase our installed base. In order to capitalize on this opportunity to drive adoption of our platforms across the entire market, we intend to expand our global sales and marketing organizations, increase the scale of our outbound marketing activities, invest in commercial channel infrastructure and deliver new, market-leading solutions to our customers. In addition, we regularly solicit feedback from our customers in order to enhance our solutions and their applications for life sciences research, which we believe will drive increased adoption of our platforms as they better serve our customers' needs.

# Drive incremental pull through

We believe that expansion of our installed base to new and existing customers will drive an increase in our recurring reagent and instrument service revenue. In addition, as our research and development team identifies and launches new applications and biomarker targets, we expect to increase incremental pull through on our existing and new instrument installed base. Recurring revenue was 38% and 38% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and 40% and 33% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our recurring revenue as a percentage of total product and service revenue will vary based upon new device placements in



the period. As our installed base expands, we expect recurring revenue on an absolute basis to increase and become an increasingly important contributor to our revenue.

#### Improve revenue mix and gross margin

Our revenue is primarily derived from sales of our platforms, consumables, software, and services. Our revenue mix will fluctuate from period-to- period, particularly revenue generated from instrument sales. As our installed base grows, we expect consumables and instrument service revenue to constitute a larger percentage of total revenue.

Our margins are higher for those instruments and consumables that we sell directly to customers compared to those sold through distributors. While we do not currently intend to terminate our distributor relationships, we plan to increase our direct sales capabilities in certain geographies which we believe will improve our gross margins.

Future instrument and consumable selling prices and gross margins may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including the introduction by others of competing products and solutions. We aim to mitigate downward pressure on our average selling prices by increasing the value proposition offered by our instruments and consumables, primarily by expanding the applications for our devices and increasing the quantity and quality of data that can be obtained using our consumables.

# **COVID-19 Impact**

In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. In the following weeks, many states and counties across the United States responded by implementing a number of measures designed to prevent its spread, including stay-at -home or shelter-in- place orders, quarantines and closure of all non- essential businesses. While conditions appear to be improving, particularly as more people get vaccinated, the impact of this pandemic has been and will likely continue to be extensive in many aspects of society, which has resulted in and will likely continue to result in significant disruptions to the global economy, as well as businesses and capital markets around the world.

Impacts in 2020 and 2021 to our business as a result of COVID-19 include disruptions to our manufacturing operations and supply chain caused by facility closures, reductions in operating hours, staggered shifts and other social distancing efforts, decreased productivity and unavailability of materials or components, limitations on our employees' and customers' ability to travel, and delays in product installations, trainings or shipments to and from affected countries and within the United States. As COVID-19 related restrictions eased and vaccination rates increased, we began the process of transitioning those personnel who are comfortable working in an office setting back to our corporate office facility, but a significant number of our personnel continue to work from home. While we learned during COVID-19 that we can work very effectively in a fully-remote environment, the partial return to in-office work and the potential transition to permanent remote working arrangements for some employees may result in increased costs, decreased efficiency, deterioration of corporate culture, greater exposure to cybersecurity threats, and other operational risks. We also expect that customer, employee and industry events may return in-person if COVID-19 related restrictions continue to ease.

Disruptions in our customers' operations have impacted and may continue to impact our business. For example, laboratory shutdowns and reduced capital spend by our customers have negatively impacted our instrument and reagent sales. We do not yet know the net impact that the COVID-19 pandemic may have on our business and cannot guarantee that it will not be materially negative. Although we continue to monitor the situation and may adjust our current policies as more information and public health guidance become available, the ongoing effects of the COVID -19 pandemic and/or the precautionary measures that we have adopted may create operational and other challenges, any of which could harm our business and results of operations. While we maintain an inventory of finished products and raw materials used in our products, a prolonged pandemic could lead to shortages in the raw materials necessary to manufacture our products. If we experience a prolonged disruption in our manufacturing, supply chains or commercial operations, or if demand for our products is significantly reduced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we would expect to experience a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Historically, a significant portion of our field sales, customer training events and other application services have been conducted in person, and the rollout of our new products has historically been supported by our participation at industry conferences. As a result of the COVID- 19 pandemic, and the precautionary measures that we have adopted, substantially all of our field sales and professional services activities have been conducted remotely for over a year, which has resulted in a decrease in our travel expenditures. However, we expect our travel expenditures to increase in the future as COVID-19 restrictions ease, which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we do not yet know the extent of the negative impact of such restrictions and precautionary measures on our ability to attract new customers or retain and expand our relationships with existing customers over the near and long term. The length of time and full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain, subject to change and difficult to predict.

#### License Agreements

In November 2015, we entered into an exclusive (equity) agreement with Stanford, pursuant to which Stanford granted us an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable (subject to certain requirements) license under certain patent rights to make, use, import and commercialize products for diagnostic, industrial and research and development purposes. We agreed to pay annual license maintenance fees ranging from \$20 thousand to \$50 thousand for the royalty-bearing license to certain patents. We also issued a total of 91,559 shares of Class B common stock pursuant to the agreement in 2015, which were recorded at fair value at the date of issuance. We are required to pay royalties on net sales of products that are covered by patent rights under the agreement at a rate of 2.25%, subject to reductions and offsets in certain circumstances, as well as a portion of any of our sublicensing income.

In September 2018, in connection with the acquisition of the Phenoptics technology from PKI, we entered into a license and royalty agreement with PKI, Cambridge Research & Instrumentation, Inc., and VisEn Medical Inc., pursuant to which such parties granted us an exclusive, nontransferable, sublicensable (subject to certain conditions) license under certain patent rights and knowhow to make, use, import and commercialize Phenoptics products and services. We are required to pay royalties on net sales of products and services that are covered by patent rights under the agreement at a rate ranging from 1.0% to 7.0%.

#### **Key Business Metrics**

We regularly review the number of instrument placements and cumulative instrument placement as key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, develop financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe that these metrics are representative of our current business; however, we anticipate these will change or may be substituted for additional or different metrics as our business grows.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our instrument placements were as follows:

	Three mon Septemb		Nine months ended September 30,			
	2021	2020	2021	2020		
Instrument Placements:	33	27	101	84		

Our instruments are sold globally to leading biopharma companies and top research institutions and medical centers. Our quarterly instrument placements fluctuate considerably from period-to-period due to the type and size of our customers and their procurement and budgeting cycles. We expect continued fluctuations in our quarterly period-to-period number of instrument placements.

We believe our instrument placements are important metrics to measure our business because together they are driven by our ability to secure new customers and drive adoption of our CODEX and Phenoptics platforms and provide insights into anticipated recurring revenue for consumables and instrument services.

#### **Components of results of operations**

#### Revenue

### Product Revenue

We generate product revenue from the sale of our instruments, consumables and software products. Instrument sales accounted for 65% and 69% of our product revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and 64% and 72% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Consumables revenue accounted for 32% and 27% of our product revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and 33% and 25% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Our current instrument offerings include our CODEX platform and our Phenoptics platform. Our sales process with customers is often long and involves multiple levels of approvals. As a result, the revenue for our platforms can vary significantly from period-to-period and has been, and may continue to be, concentrated in a small number of customers in any given period.

We sell our instruments directly to customers and through distributors. Each of our instrument sales drives various streams of recurring revenue comprised of consumable product sales and instrument services.

#### Service and Other Revenue

We primarily generate service and other revenue from instrument service, which generally consists of sales of extended service contracts, in addition to installation and training, as well as from our laboratory services operation, where we provide sample testing services to customers utilizing our in-house lab operation.

We offer our customers extended warranty and service plans for our platforms. Our extended warranty and service plans are offered for periods beyond the standard one-year warranty that all customers receive. These extended warranty and service plans generally have fixed fees and terms ranging from one to four additional years. We recognize revenue from the sale of extended warranty and service plans over the respective coverage period, which approximates the service effort provided by us.

The Company records shipping and handling billed to customers as service and other revenue and the related costs in cost of service and other revenue in the consolidated statement of operations.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, our revenue was comprised of the following sources:

	Three months ended September 30,						onths ended ember 30,		
(\$ in thousands)	2021 2020			2021			2020		
Revenue:									
Product revenue	\$	10,874	\$	7,852	\$	31,556	\$	22,967	
Service and other revenue		2,602		2,102		7,203		6,568	
Total revenue	\$	13,476	\$	9,954	\$	38,759	\$	29,535	

We sell our products globally. We sell directly to end customers in North America and EMEA and we sell through third party distributors and dealers in the APAC region.

### Cost of Goods Sold, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Product cost of revenue primarily consists of costs for finished goods (both instruments and reagents) produced by our contract manufacturers, and associated freight, shipping and handling costs for products shipped to customers, salaries and other personnel costs, and other direct costs related to those sales recognized as product revenue in the

period. Cost of goods sold for services and other primarily consists of salaries and other personnel costs, travel related to services provided, costs of servicing equipment at customer sites, and all personnel and related costs for our laboratory services operation.

We expect that our cost of goods sold will increase or decrease to the extent that our revenue increases and decreases and depending on the mix of revenue in any specific period.

Gross profit is calculated as revenue less cost of goods sold. Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our gross profit in future periods will depend on a variety of factors, including: market conditions that may impact our pricing, sales mix among instruments, sales mix changes among consumables, excess and obsolete inventories, costs we pay our contract manufacturers for their services, our cost structure for lab service operations relative to volume, and product warranty obligations. Our gross profit in future periods will also vary based upon our channel mix and may decrease based upon our distribution channels.

Gross profit was \$8.5 million compared to \$6.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and \$24.0 million compared to \$18.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively.

#### **Operating expenses**

*Research and development*. Research and development costs primarily consist of salaries, benefits, engineering/design costs, laboratory supplies, and materials expenses for employees and third parties engaged in research and product development. We expense all research and development costs in the period in which they are incurred.

We plan to continue to invest in our research and development efforts, including hiring additional employees, to enhance existing products and develop new products. As a result, we expect that our research and development expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods. We expect these expenses to vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue.

Selling, general and administrative. Our selling, general and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries and benefits for employees in our executive, accounting and finance, legal expenses related to intellectual property, sales and marketing, operations, and human resource functions as well as professional services fees, such as consulting, audit, tax and legal fees, general corporate costs, commercial sales functions, marketing, travel expenses, facilities, IT, and allocated overhead expenses. We expect that our sales, general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars after our IPO, primarily due to increased headcount to support anticipated growth in the business and due to incremental costs associated with operating as a public company. Additionally, we expect an increase in absolute dollars as we expand our commercial sales, marketing and business development teams, increase our presence globally and increase marketing activities to drive awareness and adoption of our platform. We expect these expenses to vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue.

*Change in fair value of contingent consideration.* On September 28, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of the Quantitative Pathology Solutions ("QPS") division of PKI. As part of the acquisition, on September 28, 2018, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the "Ancillary Agreements") with PKI. Under the terms of the License Agreement, the Company agreed to pay PKI certain royalties as a percentage of future sales of products from the QPS division, in exchange for a perpetual license of the right to produce and sell QPS products. This contingent consideration is subject to remeasurement.

*Depreciation and amortization.* Depreciation and amortization expenses primarily consist of depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of acquired intangibles.

# Other income (expense)

Interest expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest related to borrowings under our debt obligations.

*Change in fair value of warrant liability.* Prior to our IPO, we classified our outstanding warrant to purchase shares of our Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock as a liability on our balance sheets at its estimated fair value since the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock was classified as temporary equity. At the end of each reporting period, changes in the estimated fair value during the period were recorded as a component of other income (expense). In connection with our IPO, this warrant was adjusted to become a warrant to purchase shares of our common stock and met the criteria to be classified within stockholders' equity; therefore, the warrant was no longer subject to liability accounting. Accordingly, the fair value of the warrant liability was reclassified to stockholders' equity.

Gain on extinguishment of debt. Gain on extinguishment of debt relates to forgiveness of our PPP loan.

Other expense, net. Other expense, net consists primarily of franchise tax and foreign currency exchange gains and losses.

#### Benefit (provision) for income taxes

Our benefit (provision) for income taxes consists primarily of foreign taxes and state minimum taxes in the United States. As we expand the scale and scope of our international business activities, any changes in the United States and foreign taxation of such activities may increase our overall provision for income taxes in the future.

# **Results of operations**

The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented:

	Three mon Septem			Nine mon Septem			ıths ended ıber 30,	
(\$ in thousands)	 2021		2020		2021		2020	
Product revenue	\$ 10,874	\$	7,852	\$	31,556	\$	22,967	
Service and other revenue	2,602		2,102		7,203		6,568	
Total revenue	13,476		9,954	_	38,759	_	29,535	
Cost of goods sold:		_						
Cost of product revenue	\$ 3,594	\$	2,752	\$	10,381	\$	8,756	
Cost of service and other revenue	1,429		1,168		4,386		2,779	
Total cost of goods sold	5,023		3,920	_	14,767	_	11,535	
Gross profit	8,453	_	6,034		23,992		18,000	
Operating expenses:								
Selling, general and administrative	13,725		5,712		31,970		17,166	
Research and development	3,999		2,279		10,138		7,071	
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	224		739		1,050		(167)	
Depreciation and amortization	 1,244		971		3,352		2,792	
Total operating expenses	 19,192		9,701		46,510		26,862	
Loss from operations	 (10,739)		(3,667)		(22,518)		(8,862)	
Other income (expense):	 				· · · ·			
Interest expense, net	(763)		(683)		(2,271)		(1,978)	
Change in fair value of warrant liability	—		—		(2,728)		—	
Gain on extinguishment of debt	—				2,476			
Other expense, net	(126)		57		(244)		(104)	
Loss before benefit (provision) for income taxes	(11,628)		(4,293)		(25,285)	-	(10,944)	
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	11		9		23		(68)	
Net loss	\$ (11,617)	\$	(4,284)	\$	(25,262)	\$	(11,012)	

### Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

#### Revenue

	 Three mo Septen		Cha	nge
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020	Amount	%
Product revenue	\$ 10,874	\$ 7,852	3,022	38 %
Service and other revenue	2,602	2,102	500	24 %
Total revenue	\$ 13,476	\$ 9,954	3,522	35 %

Product revenue increased by \$3.0 million, or 38%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily driven by a \$1.3 million increase in consumable revenue resulting from a larger installed base of 651 systems as of September 30, 2021, as compared to 516 systems as of September 30, 2020, and a \$1.7 million increase in instrument revenue resulting from 33 new system placements during the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to 27 new system placements for the three months ended September 30, 2020.

Service and other revenue increased by \$0.5 million, or 24%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to a \$0.4 million increase relating to lab services operations, and other immaterial changes.

# Costs of Goods Sold, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

		Three mo Septem				nge							
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021		2021		2021		2021		2020		Amount	%
Cost of product revenue	\$	3,594	\$	2,752	\$	842	31 %						
Cost of service and other revenue		1,429		1,168		261	22 %						
Total cost of goods sold	\$	5,023	\$	3,920	\$	1,103	28 %						
Gross profit	\$	8,453	\$	6,034	\$	2,419	40 %						
Gross margin	_	63 %	ó	61 9	%								

Cost of product revenue increased by \$0.8 million, or 31%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in cost of product revenue was primarily driven by costs associated with increased instrument and consumable sales, partially offset by a change of mix in instrument revenue as compared to consumables revenue. Cost of service and other revenue increased by \$0.3 million, or 22%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to increases in extended warranty costs as there were higher customer renewals due to the maturity of the installed base.

Gross profit increased by \$2.4 million, or 40%, and gross margin increased by 2% for the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020, primarily due to a higher mix of consumables revenue driven by a higher install base. Additionally, the Company recorded a \$0.1 million reduction to cost of goods sold in the three months ended September 30, 2021, associated with the employee retention credit.

# **Operating Expenses**

# Selling, General and Administrative

	 Three mo Septen	 	 Cha	nge
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020	Amount	%
Selling, general and administrative	\$ 13,725	\$ 5,712	\$ 8,013	140 %

Selling, general and administrative expense increased by \$8.0 million, or 140%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to a \$3.9 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to an increase in headcount to support the growth in our overall operations in anticipation of and subsequent to our IPO, net of a \$1.0 million credit associated with the employee retention credit. Additionally, there was a \$2.4 million increase in professional fees and other third-party fees, which are largely incremental costs of operating a public business, including increased marketing, legal, accounting, insurance, and other consulting costs. Remaining increases are due to higher costs in recruiting, facilities, supplies, software licenses and subscriptions, and other related costs.

# Research and development

	 Three mo Septen		 Cha	nge
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020	Amount	%
Research and development	\$ 3,999	\$ 2,279	\$ 1,720	75 %

Research and development expense increased by \$1.7 million, or 75%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to a \$0.8 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to an increase in headcount, net of a \$0.4 million credit associated with the employee retention credit. Additionally, there was a \$0.7 million increase in third-party consulting and lab supplies consumed as the Company has ramped up its efforts in anticipation of and subsequent to the IPO.

# Change in fair value of contingent consideration

	Three months ended										
	September 30,					Chan	ge				
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021		2021		2020		A	mount	%		
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	\$	224	\$	739	\$	(515)	(70)%				

Change in fair value of contingent consideration decreased by \$0.5 million, or 70%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020, due to current period remeasurement.

#### Depreciation and amortization

		Three mo Septen				Cha	ge		
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021		2021 2020			A	mount	%
Depreciation and amortization	\$	1,244	\$	971	\$	273	28 %		

The \$0.3 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense was primarily related to an increase in property and equipment as of September 30, 2021 as compared to September 30, 2020.

### Interest expense

	Three months ended September 30,					Change		
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021		2020		Amount		%	
Interest expense	\$	763	\$	683	\$	80	12 %	

Interest expense increased by \$0.1 million, or 12%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020.

The increase was primarily due to increased debt levels as of September 30, 2021 as compared to September 30, 2020.

### Other expense, net

	Three months ended September 30,					Change			
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021		2020		Amount		%		
Other expense, net	\$	126	\$	(57)	\$	183	(321)%		

Other expense, net increased by \$183.0 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020.

# Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

#### Revenue

	Nine mor Septen		Change		
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020	Amount	%	
Product revenue	\$ 31,556	\$ 22,967	8,589	37 %	
Service and other revenue	7,203	 6,568	635	10 %	
Total revenue	\$ 38,759	\$ 29,535	9,224	31 %	

Product revenue increased by \$8.6 million, or 37%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily driven by a \$4.6 million increase in consumable revenue resulting from a larger installed base as of 651 systems as of September 30, 2021, as compared to 516 systems as of September 30, 2020, a \$3.7 million increase in instrument revenue resulting from 101 new system placements during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to 84 new system placements for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as well as a \$0.3 million increase in standalone software products due to incremental third party software sales completed during the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Service and other revenue increased by \$0.6 million, or 10%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The growth was primarily due a \$0.9 increase from instrument service during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by the increase in our installed base and customers renewing their service and warranty contracts, offset by a \$0.5 million decrease relating to our lab services operations.

#### Costs of Goods Sold, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

		nths ended			
	Septen	ıber 30,	Change		
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020	Amount	%	
Cost of product revenue	\$ 10,381	\$ 8,756	\$ 1,625	19 %	
Cost of service and other revenue	4,386	2,779	1,607	58 %	
Total cost of goods sold	\$ 14,767	\$ 11,535	\$ 3,232	28 %	
Gross profit	\$ 23,992	\$ 18,000	\$ 5,992	33 %	
Gross margin	62 %	6 61 9	%		

Cost of product revenue increased by \$1.6 million, or 19%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in cost of product revenue was primarily driven by costs associated with increased instrument and consumable sales, partially offset by a change of mix in instrument revenue as compared to consumables revenue. Cost of service and other revenue increased by \$1.6 million, or 58%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to increases in costs of shipping associated with higher instrument sales, as well as increases in extended warranty costs as there were higher customer renewals due to maturity of the installed base.

Gross profit increased by \$6.0 million, or 33%, and gross margin increased by 1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020, primarily due to a higher mix of consumables revenue driven by a higher install base. Additionally, the Company recorded a \$0.4 million reduction to cost of goods sold in the nine months ended September 30, 2021, associated with the employee retention credit.

#### **Operating Expenses**

## Selling, General and Administrative

		nths ended	Char	
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	<u>nber 30,</u> 2020	Char Amount	<u>nge %</u>
Selling, general and administrative	\$ 31,970	\$ 17,166	\$ 14,804	86 %

Selling, general and administrative expense increased by \$14.8 million, or 86%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The increase was primarily due to a \$6.6 million in personnel-related expenses due to an increase in headcount to support the growth in our overall operations in anticipation of our IPO, net of \$2.6 million associated with the employee retention credit. Additionally, there was a \$5.1 million increase in professional fees and other third-party fees, which are largely incremental costs of operating a public business, including increased marketing, legal, accounting, insurance, and other consulting costs. Remaining increases due to higher costs in recruiting, facilities, supplies, software licenses and subscriptions, and other related costs.

#### Research and development

	Nine mo Septe				Cha	nge
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021	2020			Amount	%
Research and development	\$ 10,138	\$	7,071	\$	3,067	43 %

Research and development expense increased by \$3.1 million, or 43%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to a \$1.6 million increase in lab supplies consumed as the Company has ramped up its efforts in anticipation of and subsequent to our IPO, and a \$1.3 million increase in personnel- related expenses, resulting from increased headcount, which was offset by \$1.3 million associated with the employee retention credit.

#### Change in fair value of contingent consideration

	Nine months ended September 30,					Cha	nge	
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021		2020	1	Amount		%
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	\$	1,050	\$	(167)	\$	1,217		(729)%

Change in fair value of contingent consideration increased by \$1.2 million, or 729%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020 due to current period remeasurement.

#### Depreciation and amortization

	Nine months ended September 30,					Cha	nge		
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021		2021		2020	A	mount	%
Depreciation and amortization	\$	3,352	\$	2,792	\$	560	20 %		

The \$0.6 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense was primarily related to an increase in property and equipment as of September 30, 2021 as compared to September 30, 2020.

## Interest expense

	September 30,					Cha	nge
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021 2020		A	mount	%	
Interest expense	\$	2,271	\$	1,978	\$	293	15 %

Interest expense increased by \$0.3 million, or 15%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

The increase was primarily due to increased debt levels as of September 30, 2021 as compared to September 30, 2020.

## Change in fair value of warrant liability

		Nine mor	iths e	nded							
	September 30,					Cha	nge				
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)	2021		2021		2021			2020	1	Amount	%
Change in fair value of warrant liability	\$	2,728	\$	_	\$	2,728	100 %				

Change in fair value of warrant liability increased by \$2.7 million, or 100%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020 due to current period remeasurement.

## Gain on extinguishment of debt

		Nine mor	ıths e	nded				
	September 30,				Char			
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021 2020			A	Amount		%
Gain on extinguishment of debt	\$	2,476	\$	_	\$	2,476		100 %

Gain on extinguishment of debt increased by \$2.5 million, or 100%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020 due to forgiveness of our PPP Loan in the second quarter of 2021.

#### Other expense, net

	Nine months ended							
	September 30,					Cha	nge	
(\$ in thousands, except percentages)		2021		2020	A	mount	%	
Other expense, net	\$	244	\$	104	\$	140	135 %	

Other expense, net increased by \$140.0 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2021, we had approximately \$120.2 million in cash and cash equivalents which were primarily held in U.S. short-term bank deposit accounts.

Since our inception, we have experienced losses and negative cash flows from operations, and as of September 30, 2021, we had a consolidated net loss of \$25.3 million and an accumulated deficit of \$78.4 million. We have primarily relied on equity and debt financings to fund our operations to date.

We expect to incur additional operating losses in the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in the research and development of our product offerings, commercialize and launch platforms, and expand into new markets. Based on our current business plan, we believe the net proceeds from the IPO, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs over at least the next 12 months following the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to our ability to successfully commercialize and launch products, and to achieve a level of sales adequate to support our cost structure. If we are unable to execute on our business plan and adequately fund operations, or if the business plan requires a level of spending in excess of cash resources, we will have to seek additional equity or debt financing. If additional financings are required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected.

#### Sources of Liquidity

Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily from the issuance and sale of our convertible preferred stock and borrowings under long-term debt agreements. In April 2021, we completed our IPO, resulting in the receipt of aggregate proceeds of \$138.6 million, net of offering costs, underwriter discounts and commissions of \$12.8 million.

### Convertible preferred stock financings

Through September 30, 2021, we have raised a total of \$60.5 million from the issuance and sale of convertible preferred stock, net of costs associated with such financings. Most recently, in 2019 we issued shares of Series D convertible preferred stock for gross proceeds of \$25.0 million. All preferred stock converted to common stock immediately prior to the IPO.

#### Payroll Protection Program loan

During April 2020, we received a \$2.48 million small business loan under the Payroll Protection Program, part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, the CARES Act. The PPP Loan was forgiven in June 2021.

#### Midcap Trust Term Loan

In October 2020, we entered into the Midcap Trust Term Loan, for a \$37.5 million credit facility, consisting of a senior, secured term loan to refinance all existing indebtedness with Innovatus. We realized \$32.5 million in aggregate proceeds as a result of the debt financing. The term of the Midcap Trust Term Loan is interest only for 36-months followed by 24-months of straight-line amortization with a final maturity date of October 27, 2025. Interest on the outstanding balance of the Midcap Trust Term Loan shall be payable monthly in arrears at an annual rate of one-month LIBOR plus 6.35%, subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.50%.

The Midcap Trust Term Loan is subject to a minimum revenue financial covenant measuring our last twelve months trailing revenue, tested on a monthly basis.



The Midcap Trust Term Loan is collateralized by substantially all of our assets. The agreement contains customary negative covenants that limit our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, make investments, repurchase stock, pay dividends, transfer assets and merge or consolidate with any other entity or to acquire all or substantially all the capital stock or property of another entity. The agreement also contains customary affirmative covenants, including requirements to, among other things, deliver audited financial statements. If we default under the Midcap Trust Term Loan and if the default is not cured or waived, the lender could cause any amounts outstanding to be payable immediately. Under certain circumstances, the lender could also exercise its rights with respect to the collateral securing such loans. Moreover, any such default would limit our ability to obtain additional financing, which may have an adverse effect on our cash flow and liquidity.

We were in compliance with all covenants under the Midcap Trust Term Loan as of September 30, 2021.

#### Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

	Nine months ended September 30,				
(\$ in thousands)		2021	2020		
Net cash provided by (used in):					
Operating activities	\$	(30,214)	\$	(4,696)	
Investing activities		(3,729)		(2,925)	
Financing activities		136,886		(201)	
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash	\$	102,943	\$	(7,822)	

#### **Operating activities**

Net cash used in operating activities increased by \$25.5 million to \$30.2 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to \$4.7 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This increase is attributable to a net loss of \$25.3 million, offset by non-cash charges of \$7.6 million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of \$2.7 million in change in fair value of warrant liability, \$3.4 million of depreciation and amortization, \$1.1 million in change in fair value of contingent consideration, and \$0.3 million of non-cash interest expense, offset by \$2.5 million gain on extinguishment of debt.

#### **Investing activities**

Net cash used in investing activities was \$3.7 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to \$2.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by purchases of property and equipment of \$3.7 million.

#### Financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was \$136.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared with (\$0.2) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. In April of 2021, the Company received \$138.6 million in net IPO proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we paid out \$1.6 million in contingent consideration as compared to \$2.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. Remaining changes were immaterial.

## Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

#### Interest rate risk

*Customer financing exposure.* We are indirectly exposed to interest rate risk because many of our customers depend on debt financings to purchase our platforms and systems. An increase in interest rates could make it challenging for our

customers to obtain the capital necessary to make such purchases on favorable terms, or at all. Such factors could reduce demand or lower the price we can charge for our platforms and systems, thereby reducing our net sales and gross profit.

*Fixed rate debt.* In October 2020, we entered into the Midcap Trust Term Loan, which is due in October 2025, and carries a fixed interest rate of 7.85% per annum. If we refinance the Midcap Trust Term Loan or enter into new debt arrangements, interest rates could increase and thereby increase our financing costs and increase our net loss. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material impact on interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Bank deposit, money market and note receivable exposure. As of September 30, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, of \$120.5 million, which consisted primarily of bank deposits. The primary objective of our investment is to preserve principal and provide liquidity. These bank deposits generate interest income at variable rates below 1%. A hypothetical 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would not have a material impact on interest income or net loss.

#### Foreign currency risk

The majority of our revenue has been generated in the United States. As we expand our presence in international markets, to the extent we are required to enter into agreements denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, our results of operations and cash flows may increasingly be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and may be adversely affected in the future due to changes in foreign exchange rates. To date, we have not entered into any hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk. As our international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to manage our risk relating to fluctuations in currency rates.

#### Critical accounting policies and estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Our preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could therefore differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to the critical accounting policies and estimates disclosed in the section titled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operations" included in the Prospectus.

#### Recent accounting pronouncements

For information on recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

#### JOBS Act accounting election

We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this extended transition period, and, as a result, we will not be required to adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies. We intend to rely on other exemptions provided by the JOBS Act, including without limitation, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.



#### Smaller reporting company status

We are also a "smaller reporting company," meaning that the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less than \$700 million and our annual revenue is less than \$100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company if either (i) the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less than \$250 million or (ii) our annual revenue is less than \$100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less than \$100 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an emerging growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are available to smaller reporting companies. For example, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and, similar to emerging growth companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for this reporting period and are not required to provide the information required under this item.

#### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2021. There was not any change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2021 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

## PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

### **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings. We are not currently a party to or aware of any proceedings that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

### Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Our risk factors are set forth in our Prospectus and incorporated herein by reference, and there have been no material changes to such risk factors. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties we describe in the Prospectus, together with all other information in this report, including our unaudited financial statements and related notes and the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section of this report, before investing in our common stock. Any of the risk factors we describe in the Prospectus could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. The market price of our common stock could decline if one or more of these risks or uncertainties actually occur, causing you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Additional risks that we currently do not know about or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also impair our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

#### Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

## Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

# Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

# Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable.

## Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Title	Form	File No.	Exhibit	Filing Date	Filed Herewith
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation	<u>S-1</u>	333-254760	<u>3.3</u>	3/26/2021	
<u>3.2</u>	Amended and Restated Bylaws	<u>S-1</u>	<u>333-254760</u>	<u>3.4</u>	<u>3/26/2021</u>	
<u>4.1</u>	Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement, dated	<u>S-1</u>	<u>333-254760</u>	<u>10.15</u>	3/26/2021	
	September 27, 2019, by and among the Registrant and certain					
	<u>of its stockholders</u>					
<u>31.1</u>	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to					<u>X</u>
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002					
<u>31.2</u>	Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer					<u>X</u>
	Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002					
<u>32.1 *</u>	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to					<u>X</u>
	Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002					
<u>32.2 *</u>	Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer					<u>X</u>
	Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002					
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does					Х
	not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags					
	are embedded within the Inline XBRL document)					
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document					Х
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase					Х
	Document					
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase					Х
	Document					
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document					Х
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase					Х
	Document					
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL					Х
	and contained in Exhibit 101)					

\* This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

## Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Akoya Biosciences, Inc.

Date: November 8, 2021

Date: November 8, 2021

By: /s/ Brian McKelligon Brian McKelligon President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Joseph Driscoll Joseph Driscoll Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

## CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brian McKelligon, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akoya Biosciences, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2021

By:

/s/ Brian McKelligon Brian McKelligon

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

## CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph Driscoll, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akoya Biosciences, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2021

By:

/s/ Joseph Driscoll

Joseph Driscoll Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Akoya Biosciences, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: November 8, 2021

By:

/s/ Brian McKelligon Brian McKelligon Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

## **CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO**

## 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Akoya Biosciences, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: November 8, 2021

Ву:

/s/ Joseph Driscoll

Joseph Driscoll Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)